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Scope and boundary

This report, compiled for Dipula Income Fund Limited (“Dipula or “the 

Fund”), covers the fi nancial year 1 September 2010 to 31 August 2011.

This is Dipula’s maiden reporting year in the public domain and its fi rst 

Integrated Annual Report, as such its integrated reporting framework is 

still in in its infancy. It is envisaged that this framework will mature and 

improve with time. The board views this process as a journey and 

considers it a priority.

The report comprises commentary relating to the business environment 

and the operational performance, including the risks and opportunities 

that face Dipula. The mitigation strategies are discussed in the Executive 

Review, the corporate governance and sustainability sections of this 

report. The report also includes disclosure on the Fund’s environmental, 

social and governance issues. The fundamental link between the 

fi nancial and non-fi nancial performance and how they infl uence Dipula’s 

stakeholders, as well as its business and investment strategy, was 

considered during the preparation of this report.

About this integrated report

The JSE Limited (JSE) requires companies listed on the Exchange to 

produce integrated reports in line with the recommendations of the 

South African Code of Corporate Practice and Conduct set out in the 

third King Report on Corporate Governance (King III). In addition, best 

practice frameworks which have been adopted in the industry were also 

used as guidelines for the information contained herein.

This integrated report has focused on the most material sustainability 

issues that drive business strategy. The issues identifi ed are as a result 

of an analysis of stakeholder concerns, business risk analysis and global 

trends and how they impact the long-term business sustainability.
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Dipula Income Fund Limited was 

listed in the ‘Financial: Real Estate 

Holdings and Development’ 

sector of the JSE Limited on 

17  August 2011. This integrated 

report thus covers operations for 

only 15 days for Dipula as a listed 

company until the year-end on 

31 August 2011. The report is a 

fi rst step towards presenting an 

integrated account of the Fund’s 

operations and profi ts and an 

introduction to the people who 

represent its stakeholders.
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Section

Group overview

Summary corporate profile

Dipula Income Fund Limited (“Dipula”) is a property loan stock company carrying on business 

as a long-term investor in real estate in South Africa for the benefi t of its unitholders. 

Asset management is performed by an external asset manager which is 100% black owned and 

managed. Furthermore, Dipula’s management has a sizeable stake in the Fund, thus aligning the 

interest of management and unitholders.

Originally established in 2006, Dipula Property Fund merged in 2011 with Mergence Africa 

Property Fund (“Mergence“) which was also formed around the same time. Both enterprises 

were owner-managed and have proven records of entrepreneurial fl air.  

Vision 

Dipula Income Fund Limited aims to be a leading property loan stock company in South Africa 

in terms of quality of income and providing maximum total returns for its unitholders. 

Mission 

Dipula aims to deliver sustainable distributions and grow total returns over the long term through 

active, high quality asset management. This will involve deploying strategies such as acquiring 

income enhancing and portfolio improving properties whilst making carefully considered, 

well timed disposals in conjunction with optimal capital and interest rate risk management.

Financial highlights for the year 

• Property rental income of R106 647 000

•  Net profit before debenture interest and 

taxation of R5 096 000

• Distribution per A-linked unit of 2,77 cents

• Distribution per B-linked unit of 2,06 cents
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Group structure

A and B unit structure

Dipula A- and B-linked units were offered and issued in equal numbers (98,3 million each) at the listing.

The initial forward yield on A-linked units at the issue price of R8,58 per unit is set at 9,25% for the 2012 fi nancial year, with a forward cover ratio of 

175%. Distributions on A-linked units will grow at 5% pa for the fi rst fi ve years until 31 August 2017, and will thereafter grow at the lower of 5% or CPI.

Dipula B-linked units offer a variable rate debenture. They receive residual distributable income after settlement of the distribution on the A-linked 

units. They are forecast to achieve an initial forward yield of 10,73% on the issue price of R5,53 each for the 2012 fi nancial year.

Ownership

The major investors in Dipula Income Fund as at year-end are:

Benefi cial shareholders holding 5% or more % Benefi cial shareholders holding 5% or more %

A-linked unitholders B-linked unitholders

Coronation Fund Managers 27,25 Redefi ne Properties Ltd 63,10

Old Mutual 15,26 Government Employees Pension Fund 9,49

Government Employees Pension Fund 8,19 Investec 8,19

STANLIB 7,89

Investment Solutions 6,23

Total 64,82 Total 80,77

Dipula Property 
Investment Trust

Asakhe Realty Investment Fund 
(Pty) Limited

Mergence Africa Property Fund 
(Pty) Limited

Dipula Income Fund Limited

Emerald Fire 
Investments (Pty) Limited

Mergence Africa Property 
Investment Trust

Property portfolioProperty portfolio Property portfolio

Property portfolio
Dipula holds a diversifi ed portfolio of properties 

located throughout South Africa, independently 

valued at an aggregate R2,1 billion as at 

28 February 2011. It consists of 175 properties 

with an effective gross lettable area (“GLA”) of 

436 629 m². 

Some 52% of annual gross rental revenue is 

derived from retail property investments, 32% 

from investment in offi ces and 16% from 

industrial properties. Some 78% of this income 

is derived from properties situated in Gauteng 

from where the fund operates, ensuring that full 

attention is given to the majority of the assets. 

The diversified portfolio is an 

important strategic advantage of 

Dipula, lowering risk for investors. 
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Funding
Dipula currently has an all-in blended rate of 8,59%. It has R506 million of debt fi xed for four years and R100 million for fi ve years. A fl oating facility 

of R153 million expires in approximately fi ve years. No loan facilities are due to expire until 2015.

Objectives and strategic focus

•  Improving liquidity of linked units over 24 months by enlarging the spread of unitholders 

• Focusing on growing income and consequently increasing the linked unit price 

•  Disposing of non-core properties and acquiring yield enhancing properties, ensuring a well balanced 

portfolio

•  Improving portfolio resilience by acquiring defensive, quality assets and through prudent use of funding

Summarised financial information

Section

Group overview

Forecast statement of comprehensive income

Forecast year ending 

31 Aug 2012

R’million$

Gross rental income 283*

Other income (recoveries) 42#

Property rental income 325

Property expenses (106)

Net property income 219

Asset management fee (7)

Administration expenses (3)

Profi t from operations 209

Net fi nance costs (63)

Debenture interest 146

* Gross rental income includes basic rent plus recoveries for rates and operating costs

#  Other income (recoveries) includes recoveries for electricity, water sewerage and other

$  This forecast was presented in the prospectus dated 28 July 2011.

Asset and property management 

•  Dipula’s asset management and property 

management functions are performed externally 

by highly competent teams. 

•  The asset manager is an independent contractor 

and is controlled by the executive management 

of Dipula. The  asset manager is paid a fee of 

0,3% of enterprise value, which is lower than 

average.

•  Property management is outsourced to JHI and 

Broll, the largest independent external property 

service companies in South Africa which both 

manage substantial listed company portfolios. 

•  JHI has more than a century of experience and 

currently manages assets worth more than

 R40 billion. 

 •  Broll has been in business for 37 years and 

currently manages assets worth more than 

R51 billion. 

•  Both companies have provided staff dedicated 

to manage Dipula’s portfolios. 
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Company overview

About us

Dipula was established in 2006 with the aim of investing in commercial real estate. The company 

acquired an initial portfolio of R300 million in the same year. Since formation Dipula has been growing 

its property portfolio. In 2011 the company merged with Mergence and in the process grew its asset base 

to R1,4 billion.

•  Diversified portfolio with retail bias 

(52% by gross rental revenue)

•  Geographic spread predominantly in Gauteng 

(69% by number of properties and 78% by gross rental revenue)

Properties are well located and consist of: 

•  Retail properties with exposure to lower income households 

•  Industrial properties in established industrial nodes with adequate 

power and access to highways

•  Office properties in solid office nodes such as the Johannesburg 

northern suburbs 

Salient features

• Property portfolio value of more than R2,1 billion

• Rentable area of 437 000 m²

• Value per m² of R4 829 

• Occupancy rate of 92,1%

• Strong management and board

• Black-managed fund

For more information please visit our 
website: www.dipula.co.za

Related information can be found 
on pages 20 – 33
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Group overview

Diversified portfolio
•  Diversified portfolio

•   Geographic spread predominantly in Gauteng (69% by number 

of properties and 78% by gross rental revenue)

 •   Retail properties in nodes with exposure to lower-income households

 •   Industrial properties in established industrial nodes with adequate 

power and access to highways

 •   Office properties in established office nodes such as the Johannesburg 

northern suburbs

Retail bias to lower income groups
•  The portfolio has an overall bias toward retail properties

(52% by gross rental revenue)

• Dipula’s retail portfolio (by GLA) includes:

 •  48% – rural centres;

 •  40% – CBD;

 •  6% – township centres;

 •  3% – commuter centres; and

 •   3% –  community centres,

the vast majority of which serve 

high-growth lower income households.

By GLA By gross rental revenue
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Chairperson ’s report

The listing of Dipula Income Fund Limited (“Dipula”) on the JSE was yet 

more testimony to the fact that cooperation between big business and 

emerging black business can achieve success in SA. Dipula is the 

merger of two black-empowered companies, namely the Mergence 

Africa Property Fund (Pty) Ltd and Dipula Property Fund (Pty) Ltd in 

close association with Redefi ne Properties Limited.

Dipula listed on 17 August 2011 following a successful private placement 

and the raising of about R1,4 billion under relatively challenging 

conditions. The downgrade of the USA by Standard and Poors happened 

whilst the IPO was in full swing and this brought anxious moments to the 

entire management team. I would like to congratulate the executive team 

for having successfully executed this challenging task.

The money raised during the IPO was applied partly to repay debt for 

the acquisition of a R700 million portfolio at listing and to fund some 

listing costs. 

At listing, the market cap of the fund was approximately R1,5 billion. 

The listing was also historical because Dipula is only the second fund to 

list with a 100% BEE Manco and an executive team not only dominated 

by previously disadvantaged individuals, but also including women.

I welcome all my non-executive colleagues on the board of Dipula and 

look forward to working with all of them as they bring a wealth of 

governance experience to the table.

The Board is aware of the need to deal with sustainability matters as 

well as the recommendations of the King III Report and the “Framework 

for integrated reporting and the integrated report”.

The Dipula governance structures will use best endeavours now and in 

future to be compliant with the King Report on Corporate Governance 

(King III). 

Globally, we have entered a period of uncertainty and property will not 

be spared from these challenging economic times. Notwithstanding 

these challenges, management is optimistic about delivering on the 

2012 forecast of 79,37 cents per A units and 59,34 cents per B unit 

presented in Dipula’s prospectus.

We will continue to make portfolio-improving acquisitions with a 

particular focus on retail properties that serve the low income consumer 

and selling non-core properties.

My gratitude goes to all my fellow directors for their commitment and 

dedication, all service providers and to the executive management team 

for their tireless efforts and passion with which they execute their 

functions. 

Joyce Zanele Matlala

Our Ethos

Dipula is a truly South African real estate 

company in which we approach property 

investment and management in a pragmatic 

fashion based on the practical realities of the 

prevailing economic and social environments. 

Thus we conduct our business in the light 

of the needs and interests of the broader 

community, our people, our investors and 

all other stakeholders. We execute our 

tasks and responsibilities meticulously, with 

passion, wholehearted commitment, and 

vigour. We believe in the need to work hard, 

to learn continuously and to have fun while 

we are doing so. Winning is our culture 

and not merely a mission that we set out to 

accomplish.
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We conduct our business ... needs and interests 
of the broader community
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Chief Executive Officer’s review

Dipula Income Fund Limited (“Dipula”) was listed on the JSE Limited on 

17 August 2011. This review therefore covers only 15 days of our 

operations as a listed company. 

The private placement of 98,3 million A-linked units in Dipula at 

R8,58 per unit and the same number of B-linked units at R5,53 per unit 

was fully subscribed to raise some R1,4 billion. This was an encouraging 

demonstration of investor confi dence in Dipula and its management.  

Key performance indicators 

Rental income from property portfolio R106 647 000

Property expenses (R27 394 000)

Administration costs (R4 691 000)

Net interest paid (R69 466 000)

Profi t before debenture interest and tax R5 096 000

Debenture interest (R5 096 000)

Distribution per A-linked unit (cents) 2,77

Distribution per B-linked unit (cents) 2,06

Our experienced and capable management team has started a vigorous 

drive to achieve our strategic aims as set out in the Vision and Mission 

statements. In essence, our strategy is aimed at achieving dependable, 

sustainable growth by improving our portfolio though enhancing 

acquisitions and sensible disposals; and at increasing the quality of 

income through good letting coupled with tight cost management and 

prudent interest rate risk management. 

Property portfolio
Dipula’s well-diversifi ed property portfolio has certain notable strengths 

as set out earlier in this report. It comprises 175 assets in the retail, 

industrial and commercial sectors in all nine provinces of the country 

and in well-placed locations. Dipula’s assets are located in urban areas, 

rural areas and townships.

Average rentals in our properties are currently at relatively lower levels, 

offering opportunity for growth, while built-in escalations are currently in 

excess of 8%.

Key highlights for the year

•   Listed on 17 August 2011 

•  Acquisitions of R1,3 billion 

• Distributions of 2,77 cents per A-linked unit 
and 2,06 cents per B-linked unit 

For more information please visit our 
website: www.dipula.co.za

Related information can be found 
on pages 20 – 33
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Our retail portfolio trades at a weighted average of R54/m2, industrial at 

R30/m2 and offi ces at R71/m2.

52% of Dipula’s income is derived from retail assets which are mainly 

geared towards lower income households. Studies point to these being 

the primary driver behind the anticipated growth in consumer spending 

in South Africa over the next few years, based on expectations of 

growing household consumption expenditure fl owing from lower debt 

service costs and strong wage growth. 

Furthermore, our properties have a high proportion of national tenants, 

who are better able to weather the storms and calms of the current 

market. A and B grade tenants are responsible for 67,6% of Dipula’s 

rental income, ensuring a healthy, reliable income stream. 

Gearing
Our gearing is currently at 36% based on February 2011 valuations. 

We are pleased with the fact that we managed to lock in an exceptional 

all-in blended rate of funding of 8,59%, with 80% of our debt fi xed for 

4 and 5 years.  

Opportunities 
We believe that current developments in the macro-economy and the 

property sector will lead to many good opportunities that our watchful 

management team will be able to exploit. As the property sector 

consolidates, funds will be reconfi guring and properties are likely to 

come to market. There may, in addition, be numerous sales by vendors 

caught in a liquidity squeeze and increased trading by developers 

and opportunistic investors exiting the market.

Weaknesses
Management is concerned about the economic downturn that may lead 

to an increase in vacancies or a slowdown in payments by tenants 

across the sector.

Prospects
The performance of the property market is dependent on the performance 

of the economy as a whole. The South African economy is expected to 

grow within the range of 2,5% to 3,0% whilst CPI infl ation is experiencing 

upward pressure currently. We are concerned about the impact of the 

increasing electricity costs as well as municipal rates on net rentals 

achieved and the effects of ineffi cient municipalities on the property sector 

in particular. Bad planning decisions by authorities, in common with 

corruption, can have serious deleterious effects on property returns. 

In spite of these concerns, Dipula expects to achieve the distributions 

for the year ending 31 August 2012 of 79,37 cents and 59,34 cents 

respectively for A- and B-linked units respectively or total distributable 

earnings of R146 million which were forecast in its prospectus dated 

28 July 2011, barring the occurrence of a further economic downturn 

and/or unforeseen tenant insolvencies.

Dipula is considering various portfolio-improving acquisitions whilst 

preserving income. Furthermore, our management team plans to 

dispose of non-core assets whilst seeking to acquire yield-enhancing 

properties that improve our portfolio. Prospects for acquisitive growth 

are considered good in the short to medium term.

Thanks and conclusion
Our team will continue to manage on a pro-active and completely 

dedicated, and unitholder and tenant welfare-focused manner, driven by 

a spirit of innovation, entrepreneurship and courage – within the context 

of a sound risk management structure and ethical conduct, as enshrined 

in our emerging framework of good corporate governance. The team is 

thus well equipped to meet the corporate objectives. 

In conclusion, I wish to thank our chairperson, Ms Zanele Mtlala, and my 

other colleagues on the board for their wise guidance, steady devotion 

and enlightened insights into the affairs of the business. My thanks also 

to the JHI and Broll teams who manage our assets. We look forward to 

a long-continued and mutually benefi cial association.

Also, much gratitude to our Financial Director Brigitte de Bruyn for 

coming through with fl ying colours in compiling this fi rst attempt of our 

integrated report.

Izak Petersen  

Our strategy is aimed at 
achieving dependable, 
sustainable growth
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Financial Director’s report

Statement of distributable income

GROUP

2011 2010

Audited

R000’s

%

change

Audited/

IAS 12

 Restated

R000’s

Rental income  106 647  93 938 

Property expenses  (27 394)  (18 847)

Net property income  79 253 6  75 091 

Administration and corporate 

costs  (4 691)  (3 878)

  Asset management fees  (4 689) 21  (3 878)

  Other  (2) –

Net operating income  74 562  71 213 

Interest received  322  587 

Interest paid  (69 788)  (72 889)

  Paid to fi nancial institutions*  (53 208) 6  (50 333)

  Paid to related parties  (16 580) (26)  (22 556)

Distributable income/(loss)  5 096  (1 089)

* Interest paid does not include debt breakage costs of R71 million

(2010: nil) as these are excluded for distribution purposes

Overview
The results for the year ended 31 August 2011 include the results of 

Dipula for the full year to 31 August 2011. The effective date of the 

acquisition of Mergence Africa Property Fund (Pty) Ltd (“Mergence”) 

was 1 August 2011 and thus one month’s net income has been 

included. The acquisitions of Asakhe Realty Investment Fund (Pty) Ltd 

(“Asakhe”) and a portfolio of assets from Redefine Properties 

Limited (“Redefine”) were effective 17 August 2011 and thus 15 days’ 

net income relating to these properties was included in the 

current results.

Distributable income
The forecast for the year ending 31 August 2011, which was included 

in the prospectus dated 28 July 2011, assumed that the listing of Dipula 

and the various acquisitions (“the acquisitions”) detailed in the 

prospectus would be effective on 1 August 2011. The listing and the 

acquisitions were in fact only implemented on or around 17 August 

2011, with the result that the distribution for the period ended 31 August 

2011 comprises the distributable income of the enlarged Dipula group 

for a period of 15 days up to its year ended 31 August 2011.

A revised forecast refl ecting the results of Dipula since the actual listing 

date was presented for comparison purposes in the results 

announcement, released on SENS on 15 November 2011. This revised 

forecast refl ected that the distributable income for the period since 

listing improved mainly as a result of marginally better performance of 

the portfolio.

Net property income
Net property income for the year increased by 6%, mainly as a result 

of a positive performance in the Dipula portfolio.

Administration and corporate costs
Asset management fees

Asset management fees increased due to an increase in the size of the 

portfolio for a brief part of the year. In the current year, prior to listing, 

asset management fees were paid to Dijalo Property Services (Pty) Ltd 

and Redefi ne. Post-listing, the asset management fees were paid to 

Dipula Asset Management Trust for a period of 15 days.

Interest paid to fi nancial institutions

Interest paid increased due to an increased level of borrowing that was 

used to fi nance the acquisitions. When calculating distributable income, 

debt breakage fees of R71 million (2010: nil) were not taken into 

account as costs related to restructuring and refi nancing the business 

are deemed to be capital and not a part of the normal operating 

activities of the business.

Interest paid to related parties

In the prior year and in the current year prior to listing, interest was paid 

to Dijalo Property Services and Redefi ne. The interest rate on the related 

party loans was decreased from 1 February 2011 which resulted in a 

decreased charge for the year. As part of the listing process, part of the 

proceeds were used to settle these loans. 

Business combinations and investment property 
acquisitions
Dipula acquired Mergence, which owns 51 properties, with effect from 

1  August 2011. In addition, Asakhe was acquired, which owns 
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19 properties, with effect from 17 August 2011. Both acquisitions were 

accounted for as Business Combinations.

Property portfolio
In addition to the business combinations, Mergence acquired 

15 properties from Redefi ne, which were accounted for as additions to 

investment property. The entire property portfolio was valued in 

aggregate at R2,1 billion at 28 February 2011 by independent valuers 

and consists of 175 properties with an effective GLA of 436 629 m2.

Goodwill
Goodwill relates to the acquisition of Mergence and Asakhe.

Non-current assets held for sale
These properties were included in the acquisition by Dipula of Asakhe, 

however, they were subject to agreements of sale to a third party. 

Transfer is expected to occur in the next six  months, with proceeds 

being paid to the original owners of Asakhe.

Trade and other receivables
The provision for impairment is R9,7 million (2010: R0,7 million) and 

represents 39% (2010: 35%) of the arrears at year-end. In the opinion 

of management, the current provision is conservative and arises as a 

result of the tough trading conditions currently experienced country- 

and world-wide. Refer to note 6 to the annual fi nancial statements for 

an analysis of amounts included in other receivables.

Interest-bearing borrowings
Total interest-bearing borrowings of R759,5 million represent a loan to 

value ratio of 36% of the value of investment properties. Dipula is 

currently achieving an all-in blended rate of funding of 8,59% and has 

fi xed interest debt of R506 million for 4 years and R100 million for 

5  years respectively. The fl oating facility of R153 million expires in 

approximately 5 years. 

There are no expiring loan facilities until 2015.

Deferred taxation
In December 2010 the IASB released amendments to IAS 12 which are 

effective 1 January 2012. These amendments impact on the rate at 

which deferred tax is recognised specifi cally on the fair value movement 

of the building component of investment property as it establishes a 

presumption that it will be recovered through disposal and hence will 

attract deferred tax at the capital gains tax rate. Dipula has elected the 

early adoption of these amendments and applied them retrospectively 

as required by IAS 8.

It is the view of the board that the adoption of this policy results in more 

accurate and meaningful disclosure. The statement of comprehensive 

income includes a charge of R9,7 million, which relates mainly to the 

revaluation of investment properties and recognition of assessed losses.

Brigitte de Bruyn

Statement of financial position

GROUP

2011

Audited

R000’s

2010

Audited/

 IAS 12

 Restated

R000’s

ASSETS

Non-current assets  2 155 581  809 262 

Investment property at fair value  2 107 099  809 262 

Goodwill  48 482  – 

Current assets  46 338  4 800 

Trade and other receivables  21 078  3 359 

Cash and cash equivalents  25 260  1 441 

Non-current assets held for 

sale

Investment property held for sale  21 400  – 

Total assets  2 223 319  814 062 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity  473 811  100 421 

Stated capital  427 852  – 

Fair value reserve 116 895  111 589 

Accumulated loss (70 936) (11 168)

Non-current liabilities 1 677 216  701 615 

Debentures  900 629  – 

Interest-bearing liabilities  759 500  393 629 

Loans from related parties  –  290 116 

Deferred taxation  17 087  17 870 

Current liabilities  71 182  12 026 

Trade and other payables  66 086  12 026 

Linked unitholders for distribution  5 096  – 

Non-current assets held for 

sale

Investment property held for sale –

deferred taxation  1 110  – 

Total equity and liabilities  2 223 319  814 062 

Number of A-linked units in issue 105 532 393*

Number of B-linked units in issue 105 532 393*

Net asset value per A-linked unit 

(cents)1 651,19

Net asset value per B-linked unit 

(cents)1 651,19

Net asset value per A-linked 

unit (cents)2 659,81

Net asset value per B-linked 

unit (cents)2 659,81

* Excluding treasury linked unit
1 Including deferred taxation
2 Excluding deferred taxation
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Board of directors

The directors of Dipula Income Fund Limited bring to bear an exceptionally wide range of signifi cant hands-on experience at senior level in 

the property business. 

 Zanele Joyce Matlala (48) 

 CA (SA), Independent Non-executive Chairperson

Ms Matlala is currently the Chief Financial Offi cer at Merafe Resources Limited. From 2006 to October 2010, she was Group Financial Director 

of Kagiso Trust Investments, which she joined from the Development Bank of Southern Africa, where she was also Chief Financial Offi cer, 

having previously been an investments executive. Before that she was with the Industrial Development Corporation for three and a half years, 

heading up the wholesale venture capital funds team after being promoted from the project and structured fi nance area. After completing her 

articles with Arthur Andersen & Co at the outset of her career, she was responsible for due diligence and other special investigations in 

addition to statutory audits in her role as audit supervisor in that fi rm.

 Izak Smolly Petersen (38)

 BCom, PGDA, CA (SA), Chief Executive Officer

Mr Petersen is a co-founder of Dipula. He was previously employed at Deloitte. Thereafter he joined PSG Investment Bank, fi rst as Group 

Management Accountant and subsequently as a transactor in structured fi nance and products. Thereafter he spent two years at a boutique 

structured fi nance and asset management company in Cape Town. Izak co-founded the Mergence Africa group which is involved in asset 

management, property and equity derivative structuring and broking. Izak continues to serve as an executive committee member of various 

industry bodies and holds directorships in various Mergence group companies.

In 2006, Izak headed and co-established Mergence Africa Property Fund, which later merged with Dipula Property Fund for the establishment 

and listing of the Dipula Income Fund.

 Brigitte de Bruyn (38)

 BCom, BAcc, CA (SA), Financial Director

Ms de Bruyn joined Dipula from Grapnel Property Group (Proprietary) Limited, where she was Financial Director. She served her articles as a 

chartered accountant at Deloitte & Touche Audit Division and in 1999 she gained international experience with Deloitte & Touche Los Angeles. 

Thereafter she held various positions in Deloitte & Touche Special Services Group, a consulting division within the fi rm, from 1999 to 

December 2005, including a secondment to Zurich, Switzerland. In 2004, she was promoted to a senior manager role and to the Executive 

Committee of the Special Services Group.

Exco
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Board of directors (continued)

 Nyangeni Saul Gumede (55)

 BCom, CPM®, Executive Director

Mr Gumede is a co-founder of Dipula (2006), where he served as an Asset Manager and CEO. He holds a Certifi ed Property Manager (CPM) 

qualifi cation issued by the Institute of Real Estate Management (USA). After completing a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting) in South Africa, 

he joined Deloitte & Touche and completed his articles in 1985. Thereafter, he worked for Old Mutual Properties holding various positions 

including Accountant, Financial Manager, Regional Investment Manager (managing a team of investments analysts responsible for property 

acquisitions) and Regional Property Manager managing the R3,2 billion portfolio of the Johannesburg region. In 1990, Saul joined SEBO, a 

Bophuthatswana government pension property portfolio valued at R800 million, and held the position of Assistant General Manager. In 1998, 

he founded Dijalo Property Services of which he became CEO. Dijalo provides property management services, facility management, broking 

and leasing, development facilitation, property consulting and property valuations to the property and fi nancial industry at large. 

 Brian Hilton Azizollahoff (50)

 BA (NY), MBA (Wits), Independent Non-executive Director (British)

Mr Azizollahoff has almost 25 years’ experience in the property industry. He served as CEO of Redefi ne from 2003 until it merged with ApexHi 

Properties Limited and Madison Property Fund Managers Limited in 2009. He served on the Executive and Investment Committees on the 

Redefi ne board, during which time he was responsible for debt and capital markets, certain joint ventures, marketing and investor relations, 

human resources and legal. He recently resigned from Redefi ne to form Capstone Properties.

 Elias (‘Eltie’) Links (65)

  BCom, MCom (Economics), MA (Economics), PhD (Economics), Independent Non-executive Director

Prof Links holds Doctor of Philosophy, Master of Arts, Master of Commerce and Bachelor of Commerce degrees in Economics and a UED 

diploma in Education. He is a Non-executive Director of a number of companies, including AfriSam (Pty) Ltd, Freeworld Coatings Ltd, 

Business Partners Ltd, Juta Ltd and TerraSan Ltd. Prof Links is also the Chair of Doing Business in Africa at the Stellenbosch Graduate 

School of Business (USB). He serves as a member of the B-BBEE Council of the President. Previously, Prof Links served as the South African 

Ambassador to the European Union, Belgium and Luxembourg as well as Permanent Representative of South Africa at the World Bank and 

International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.

 Younaid Waja (59)

 BCom, Hons BCompt CA (SA), HDip Tax Law, Independent Non-executive Director

A chartered accountant, Mr Waja has practised as a tax and business consultant since October 1991. From 1996 to 2007 he was a senior 

partner and Executive Chairman of APF Chartered Accountants Inc, a consortium of black auditing and accounting fi rms.

During his career he served as Chairman of the Public Accountants and Auditors Board (PAAB, now IRBA); he was Vice President of the 

Association for the Advancement of Black Accountants of Southern Africa (ABASA) and an Executive Member of the Black Business Council 

(BBC). He currently serves as a Director of various public sector and listed companies, and has extensive experience across a wide fi eld of 

business sectors, including telecommunications, property, asset management, gaming, motor and transportation, and economic 

growth facilitation. 
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Corporate governance report

Dipula is fully committed to being compliant with, where practical for an 

organisation of its size and nature, the principles of the Code of 

Corporate Practices and Conduct set out in the King III Report on 

Corporate Governance. The board strives to ensure that the group acts 

in accordance with applicable governance policies.

The Directors recognise the need to conduct the enterprise with 

integrity and provide effective leadership based on ethical values. 

This includes timely, relevant and meaningful reporting to linked 

unitholders and other stakeholders, to provide a clear and objective 

perspective of the company and its activities. They seek to direct the 

strategy and operations of the company with the aim of building a 

sustainable business with due regard to the short- and long-term 

impacts of company strategy on the economy, society and the 

environment. 

Dipula currently does not have a nomination committee as it is the 

board’s view that this committee is currently unnecessary. 

The development and implementation of nomination policies that would 

have been undertaken by a nomination committee will be undertaken by 

the Audit and Risk Committee and the board as whole. The company 

will consider the formation of a nomination committee in due course as 

the need arises.

No remuneration committee is in place as Dipula does not have any 

employees. The executive are remunerated by external management 

companies and thus only certain executives’ remuneration is disclosed. 

Directors’ fees are approved by the board and Dipula unitholders.

Board of directors
The board of directors consists of three Executive Directors and four 

Independent Non-executive Directors. The Chairperson is an 

Independent Non-executive Director whose role is separate from that of 

the Chief Executive Offi cer (CEO). The board has ensured that there is 

an appropriate balance of power and authority on the board in order 

that no single individual or block of individuals can dominate the board’s 

decisions. The Non-executive Directors are individuals of calibre and 

proven credibility and have the necessary skills and experience to bring 

judgment to bear independent of management, on issues of strategy, 

performance, resources, transformation, diversity and employment 

equity, standards of conduct and evaluation of performance.

The board is responsible for the strategic direction of the company and 

sets the values to which the company will adhere, and will formulate a 

code of ethics in this regard which will be clearly articulated to the group 

as a whole, as provided below.

The board has appointed a CEO and is in the process of establishing a 

framework for delegation of authority. It will ensure that the role and 

function of the CEO will be formalised and the CEO’s performance 

evaluated against specifi ed criteria.

The current board’s size, diversity of professional expertise and 

demographics make it a highly effective board with regard to Dipula’s 

current strategies. The board shall ensure that in appointing additional 

board members, the board as a whole will continue to refl ect, whenever 

possible, a diverse set of professional and personal backgrounds.

The information needs of the board are reviewed annually and directors 

have unrestricted access to all company information, records, documents 

and property to enable them to discharge their responsibilities suffi ciently. 

Effi cient and timely methods of informing and briefi ng board members 

prior to board meetings are in place and in this regard steps have been 

taken to identify and monitor key risk areas, key performance areas and 

non-fi nancial aspects relevant to Dipula. In this context, the directors are 

afforded access to information in respect of key performance indicators, 

variance reports and industry trends.

The board has established a formal orientation programme to familiarise 

incoming Directors with company operations, senior management and 

its business environment, and to induct them in their fi duciary duties 

and responsibilities.

Directors receive further briefi ngs from time to time on relevant new laws 

and regulations as well as on changing economic risks. Directors ensure 

that they have a working understanding of applicable laws. The board 

ensures that the company complies with applicable laws and considers 

adherence to non-binding industry rules and codes and standards. In 

deciding whether or not non-binding rules shall be complied with, the 

board determines the appropriate and ethical considerations that must 

be taken into account. 

New Directors with no or limited board experience receive development 

and education to inform them of their duties, responsibilities, powers 

and potential liabilities.

A succession plan for the CEO and other Executive Directors will be 

developed by the board and reported on in the 2013 Annual Report.

The board discloses details in the integrated report of how it discharged 

its responsibilities to establish an effective compliance framework and 

process. The board will also participate in the external asset manager 

establishment of process and compliance framework policies and the 

Audit and Risk Committee will report on its implementation to the board.

The board will appraise the Chairperson’s performance and ability to 

add value on an annual or such other basis as the board may determine. 

The Chairperson, or a sub-committee appointed by the board, 

will appraise the performance of the CEO and the Asset Manager at 

least annually.

No Executive Directors hold service contracts. All Directors are subject 

to retirement by rotation and re-election by Dipula linked unitholders at 

least once every three years in accordance with the company’s 

memorandum of incorporation (“MOI”).

Board composition

Executive Directors 3

Independent 

Non-executive Directors 4
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The board has developed and is in the process of fi nalising a charter 

setting out its responsibilities and duties including the adoption of 

strategic plans, monitoring of operational performance and management, 

determination of policy and processes to ensure the integrity of the 

company’s risk management and internal controls, communication 

policy and director selection, orientation and evaluation. The group 

member companies shall adopt the governance framework, policies, 

processes and procedures as set by Dipula’s board in consultation with 

the directors of Dipula’s various subsidiaries.

Board meetings are held at least quarterly, with additional meetings 

convened when circumstances necessitate. The board has set the 

strategic objectives of the company and determines investment and 

performance criteria, and is responsible for the sustainability, proper 

management, control, compliance and ethical behaviour of the 

businesses under its direction. The board, as necessary, has established 

committees to give detailed attention to certain of its responsibilities and 

to operate within defi ned, written terms of reference.

The board is composed of and will continue to be composed of 

independently minded individuals who will assess each transaction on 

its merits. The board implemented a policy for detailing the manner in 

which a Director’s interest in transactions is to be disclosed. 

Real or perceived confl icts are disclosed to the board and managed in 

accordance with the predetermined policy used to assess a Director’s 

interest in transactions. Non-executive Directors’ independence is 

reviewed from time to time.

The board as a whole and individual directors will have their overall 

performance periodically reviewed in order to identify areas for 

improvement in the discharge of individual Director’s and the board’s 

functions on an annual basis. This review will be undertaken by the 

Chairperson and, if so determined by the board, an independent service 

provider. An overview of the appraisal process, results and action plan 

will be disclosed in the group’s integrated report. Nominations for the 

reappointment of a Director will only occur after the evaluation of the 

performance of the Director.

The board will determine a policy for detailing the procedures for 

appointments to the board. Such appointments to be formal and 

transparent and a matter for the board as a whole.

The board has delegated certain functions to the Audit and Risk 

Committee and the Investment Committee. The board is conscious of 

the fact that such delegation of duties is not an abdication of the board 

members’ responsibilities. The various committees’ terms of reference 

shall be reviewed annually and a synopsis of such terms of reference will 

be disclosed in the group’s integrated report.

Section

Corporate governance

External advisors and Executive Directors who are not members of 

specifi c committees shall attend committee meetings by invitation, 

if deemed appropriate by the relevant committees.

Audit  and Risk Committee
The board, in accordance with the requirement set out in Dipula’s MOI, 

has established an Audit and Risk Committee comprising three 

Independent Non-executive Directors, of whom one is the Chairperson. 

The Audit and Risk Committee is comprised of Younaid Waja 

(Chairperson), Eltie Links, and Brian Azizollahoff.

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Investment 
Committee

Board
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Corporate governance report (continued)

All the members are fi nancially literate and the board will ensure that any 

future appointees will be fi nancially literate.

The committee’s primary objectives are to provide the board with 

additional assurance regarding the effi cacy and reliability of the fi nancial 

information used by the Directors, to assist them in the discharge of 

their duties, in addition to the statutory duties of the committee. 

The  committee is required to provide satisfaction to the board that 

adequate and appropriate fi nancial and operating controls are in place; 

that signifi cant business, fi nancial and other risks have been identifi ed 

and are being suitably managed; and that satisfactory standards of 

governance, reporting and compliance are in operation. 

The committee is responsible for overseeing the integrated report. In 

this regard it considers all factors and risks that may impact on the 

integrity of the integrated report. The board reviews and comments on 

the fi nancial statements and the disclosure of sustainability issues 

included in the integrated report. Further, the committee oversees and 

reports on the sustainability issues, reviews the integrated report to 

ensure that the information contained therein is reliable and does not 

contradict the fi nancial aspects of the report, and oversees the provision 

of assurance over sustainability issues. 

The committee reviews the content of the group’s interim results 

announcement and engages external auditors to provide assurance on 

the summarised fi nancial information.

In this context, the board is responsible for the group’s systems of 

internal, fi nancial and operational control. The Executive Directors are 

charged with the responsibility of determining the adequacy, extent and 

operation of these systems. Comprehensive reviews and testing of the 

effectiveness of the internal control systems in operation will be 

performed by the appointed asset and property managers, and 

accompanied by external audits conducted by external practitioners, 

whose work will be overseen by and reported to the committee. These 

systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, 

assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the fi nancial statements, to 

safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of its assets and to identify 

and minimise signifi cant fraud, potential liability, loss and material 

misstatement while complying with applicable laws and regulations. 

An Audit and Risk Committee Charter has been prepared and accepted 

by the committee.

The committee meets at least twice a year. Executives and managers 

responsible for fi nance and the external auditors will be in attendance. 

The committee reviews the fi nance function of the company annually.

The committee may authorise engaging the appointed external auditors 

or any other practising fi rm of auditors for non-audit services, after 

considering pertinent criteria established by the committee and the 

board including that the nature of the assignment will not affect their 

independence as external auditors.

The committee may delegate the approval of the appointment of a fi rm 

of auditors for non-audit services to management when the cumulative 

total budgeted cost for an assignment or assignments does not exceed 

R50 000 from the date of the last report-back of the use of the 

appointed external auditors or any other practising fi rm of auditors, to 

the committee. Management shall report back on the use of the 

appointed external auditors or any other practising fi rm of auditors at 

meetings of the committee.

Information relating to the use of non-audit services from the appointed 

external auditors of the company shall be disclosed in the notes to the 

annual fi nancial statements. Separate disclosure of the amounts paid 

to  the appointed external auditors for non-audit services as opposed 

to audit services, shall be made in the annual fi nancial statements.

The committee considers on an annual basis and satisfi es itself on 

the  appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the Financial 

Director, and the company must confi rm this by reporting to linked 

unitholders in its annual report that the committee has executed 

this  responsibility. The committee has satisfi ed itself on the 

appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the Financial 

Director, Brigitte de Bruyn. 

Attendance at meetings
(The number in brackets represents number of meetings held during the tenure of the director.)

Directors Board

Audit 

Committee

J Matlala (Chairman) (appointed 20/5/2011) 2 (2)

Y Waja (appointed 6/6/2011) 1 (1) 1 (1)

I Petersen (Chief Executive Offi cer) (appointed 20/5/2011) 2 (2)

B Azizollahoff (resigned 28/2/2011 and re-appointed 20/5/2011) 3 (4) 1 (1)

B de Bruyn (Financial Director) (appointed 20/5/2011) 1 (2)

M Magermann (appointed 20/5/2011 and resigned 20/7/2011) 1 (1)

E Links (appointed 20/5/2011) 1 (2) 1 (1)

S Gumede 4 (4)

H Malekane (resigned 20/7/2011) 2 (3)

G Abrahams (resigned 20/5/2011) 2 (3)
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Section

Corporate governance

With regard to the appointment of directors, the Audit and Risk 

Committee will undertake background and reference checks before 

appointing directors. The board shall make full disclosures regarding 

individual directors to enable linked unitholders to make their own 

assessment of the directors.

The report of the Audit and Risk Committee can be found on page 39. 

Risk management and internal controls

The objective of risk management is to identify, assess, manage and 

monitor the risks to which the business is exposed.

Furthermore, the level of borrowings and the exposure to interest rate 

movement are carefully monitored and covered.

To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, management has 

implemented systems of internal control comprising policies, procedures, 

systems and information to assist in:

•  safeguarding assets and reducing the risk of loss, error, fraud and 

other irregularities;

•  ensuring the accuracy and completeness of accounting records and 

reporting; and

•  the timely preparation of reliable financial statements and information 

in compliance with relevant legislation and generally accepted 

accounting policies and practices.

Directors’ dealings and professional advice
The company operates a policy (in compliance with the JSE Listings 

Requirements) of prohibiting dealings by directors and certain other 

managers in periods immediately preceding the announcement of its 

interim and year-end fi nancial results, any period while the company is 

trading under cautionary announcement and at any other time deemed 

necessary by the board. All announcements regarding trades in 

securities of the company that are required to be announced on SENS 

(in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements) are co-ordinated through 

the CEO and the company sponsor.

The board has established a procedure for directors, in furtherance of 

their duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at the 

company’s expense. All directors have access to the advice and 

services of the company secretary.

Company secretary
The company has engaged the services of an independent, professional 

company secretarial practice. The company secretary provides the 

board as a whole and directors individually with detailed guidance as to 

how their responsibilities should be properly discharged in the best 

interest of the company. The company secretary provides a central 

source of guidance and advice to the board, and within the company, 

on matters of ethics and good corporate governance. The company 

secretary will be subjected to an annual evaluation by the board.



Property portfolio statistics 
as at 31 August 2011

Lease expiry based on GLA %

Vacancy 7,9%    

Expired 8,1%   

31 August 2012 27,1%   

31 August 2013 23,3%   

31 August 2014 12,4% 

31 August 2015 7,7% 

31 August 2016 

and beyond 13,5%  

Lease expiry based on gross rental revenue %

Expired 6,1%     

31 August 2012 24,4%   

31 August 2013 24,1%   

31 August 2014 15,6% 

31 August 2015 8,2% 

31 August 2016 

and beyond 21,6%  

Lease expiry based on GLA %

Vacancy 7,4%    

Expired 5,4%    

31 August 2012 29,4%   

31 August 2013 22,0%   

31 August 2014 12,1% 

31 August 2015 8,7% 

31 August 2016  

and beyond 15,0%  

Lease expiry based on gross rental revenue %

Expired 5,0%     

31 August 2012 25,6%   

31 August 2013 23,2%   

31 August 2014 11,1% 

31 August 2015 8,7% 

31 August 2016  

and beyond 26,4%  

Lease expiry based on GLA %

Vacancy 7,6%    

Expired 14,6%   

31 August 2012 22,2%   

31 August 2013 20,7%   

31 August 2014 10,3% 

31 August 2015 10,8% 

31 August 2016  

and beyond 13,8%  

Lease expiry based on gross rental revenue %

31 August 2014 13,4% 

31 August 2015 17,5% 

31 August 2016 

and beyond 12,9%  

Expired 13,2%     

31 August 2012 23,7%  

31 August 2013 19,3%   

Total portfolio

Retail

Industrial
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Section

Property portfolio

Lease expiry based on GLA %

Vacancy 9,6%     

Expired 6,1%     

31 August 2012 28,3%   

31 August 2013 29,5%   

31 August 2014 15,6% 

31 August 2015 1,5% 

31 August 2016 

and beyond 9,4%   

Lease expiry based on gross rental revenue %

31 August 2014 24,5%  

31 August 2015 2,1%  

31 August 2016 

and beyond 16,3%  

Expired 4,4%   

31 August 2012 25,4%  

31 August 2013 27,3%   

A 50,4% 

B 13,2% 

C 36,4% 

Tenant profile based on GLA % Tenant profile based on gross rental revenue %

A 52,4% 

B 15,2% 

C 32,4% 

Vacancy per sector %

Retail 7,4% 

Industrial 7,5% 

Office 9,6% 

Weighted average rental escalation by sector 

Retail 8,1% 

Industrial 8,7% 

Office 8,7% 

A Large national tenants, large listed tenants, government and major franchisees. These include, inter alia, Shoprite Checkers, Pick ‘n Pay, Absa  

 Bank and the South African Revenue Services

B National tenants, listed tenants, franchisees and medium to large professional fi rms. These include, inter alia, Autozone, Nando’s, Foschini,  

 Pepkor and Lewis Stores

C Other (this comprises 627 tenants)
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Details of the property portfolio
as at 31 August 2011

No. Property name Sector Region Address

Retail

1 Belle Hombre Retail Gauteng Cnr Boom and Potgieter Streets, Marabastad, Pretoria

2 Palm Court Retail Gauteng

Cnr JG Strydom and Fern Road, Weltevreden Park, 

Johannesburg

3 274 Beyers Naudé Drive Retail Gauteng

274 Beyers Naudé Drive, Northcliff, Blackheath, 

Johannesburg

4 Welkom High Park Building Retail Free State

Cnr Stateway and Bok Streets, Sanlam Business 

Centre, Welkom

5 Kopanong Retail Gauteng Malatsi Street, Ivory Park, Tembisa 

6 Atlas Road Retail Gauteng Atlas/Dunswart Roads, Anderbolt, Boksburg

7 6 Old Pretoria Road Retail Gauteng

6 Old Pretoria Road, Richards Drive, Halfway House, 

Midrand

8 Blackheath Galleries Retail Gauteng

Cnr Beyers Naudé Drive and Mountain View Avenue, 

Blackheath, Johannesburg

9 Alberton Crossing Retail Gauteng Cnr Voortrekker Road and Ring Road West, Alberton

10 233 Bram Fischer Drive Retail Gauteng 233 Bram Fischer Drive, Randburg, Johannesburg

11 Score Vosloorus Retail Gauteng Sam Sekoti Avenue, Vosloorus

12 Casey’s Auto Springs Retail Gauteng 140 – 2nd Street, Springs

13 Ellerines Newcastle Retail KwaZulu-Natal 54 Scott Street, Newcastle

14 Planet Fitness Montana Retail Gauteng

33 Tibouchina Street, Zambesi Drive, Montana Park, 

Pretoria

15 Giyani Retail Limpopo Magistrate Street, Giyani

16 Shoprite Westonaria Retail Gauteng

Cnr Edwards Avenue and Allen Street, Westonaria 

District, Randfontein

17 ABSA Secunda Retail Mpumalanga Tropsch Plane, Secunda

18 40 Scott Street Retail KwaZulu-Natal 40/42 Scott Street, Newcastle

19 Perm Building East London Retail Eastern Cape 42 – 46 Oxford Street, East London

20 BMW Retail Gauteng

146 South Boulevard, East Gate Offi ce Park, Bruma, 

Johannesburg

21 Standard Bank Doornfontein Retail Gauteng

Cnr Beit Street and Andsiemart Road, Doornfontein, 

Johannesburg

22 Bethal Sanlam Retail Mpumalanga Cnr Eeufees and Mark Streets, Bethal

23 Checkers Nigel Retail Gauteng Cnr Main and Hendrik Verwoerd Streets, Nigel

24 PnP Kroonstad Retail Free State Cnr President and Truter Streets, Kroonstad

25 ABSA Krugersdorp Retail Gauteng Cnr Burger and Monument Streets, Krugersdorp

26 Virgin Active Horizon View Retail Gauteng 38 Van Santen Drive, Horizon View, Roodepoort

27 Sales House Retail Gauteng Cnr Fraser and Bree Streets, Johannesburg

28 Standard Bank Newcastle Retail KwaZulu-Natal 96 Scott Street, Newcastle
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Section

Property portfolio

GLA

(m2)

Occupancy

%

Average rental

per m2

(R/m2)

Effective date

of acquisition

 Purchase price 

  (R’000) 

 Property valuation

as at

28 February 2011 

  (R’000) 

 7 838 100 67 17/08/2011  59 100  59 100 

 6 284 94 97 17/08/2011  50 000  52 100 

 3 784 100 112 17/08/2011  42 500  49 700 

 7 510 100 32 25/04/2008  24 719  43 000 

 4 024 100 90 17/08/2011  31 600  31 600 

 3 202 100 102 17/08/2011  28 000  28 000 

 5 760 57,29 69 11/01/2008  29 800  25 000 

 3 667 100 66 17/08/2011  23 000  23 600 

 2 185 94,28 117 07/06/2007  20 356  20 200 

 2 958 100 190 17/08/2011  19 066  18 900 

 3 600 100 51 31/05/2007  14 400  18 800 

 6 884 100 24 25/04/2008  15 172  18 800 

 2 125 100 90 25/04/2008  14 590  18 400 

 2 472 100 50 17/08/2011  17 800  17 800 

 5 034 100 41 17/08/2011  17 700  17 700 

 2 576 100 54 07/06/2007  10 420  17 500 

 2 359 100 74 25/04/2008  16 674  17 400 

 2 312 97,23 85 25/04/2008  15 072  17 100 

 3 473 87,24 83 25/04/2008  10 388  17 000 

 1 847 100 97 17/08/2011  18 575  17 000 

 2 149 100 78 17/08/2011  16 800  16 800 

 2 424 100 52 25/04/2008  8 588  16 400 

 3 443 100 53 25/04/2008  15 659  16 400 

 4 563 100 38 07/06/2007  13 773  14 900 

 3 420 100 44 25/04/2008  12 468  14 400 

 2 500 100 67 17/08/2011  14 200  14 200 

 2 071 100 62 07/06/2007  11 320  13 300 

 1 713 100 93 25/04/2008  8 436  13 200 
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No. Property name Sector Region Address

29 Perm Plaza Newcastle Retail KwaZulu-Natal 58 Scott Street, Newcastle

30 30 Voortrekker Road, Edgars Bellville Retail Western Cape 30 Voortrekker Road, Bellville

31 29 Main Street, Mafi keng Retail North West 29 Main Street, Mafi keng

32 Nedbank Building East London Retail Eastern Cape 63 – 71 Oxford Street, East London

33 Metro Giyani Retail Limpopo Stand BA 43,44 and 46 Giyani Business Districts

34 Score Ivory Park Retail Gauteng 2nd October Avenue, Ivory Park Ext 8

35 Standard Bank Isando Retail Gauteng Cnr Kram and Monteer Roads, Isando

36 Supermart Retail KwaZulu-Natal 27 Allen Street, Newcastle

37 ABSA Silverton Retail Gauteng 177 De Boulevard Street, Silverton, Pretoria

38 Nedbank Centre Vereeniging Retail Gauteng 12 Merriman Avenue, Vereeniging

39 Citizens Springs Retail Gauteng 4th Avenue, Springs

40 Standard Bank Krugersdorp Retail Gauteng 39 Human Street, Krugersdorp

41 Mafi keng Centre Nirelle Retail North West 20 Shippard Street, Mafi keng

42 Score Evaton Retail Gauteng Chief Bambatha Street, Evaton West Ext 11

43 Score Braamfi sherville Retail Gauteng Cnr Freedom Drive and Amandla Blvd, Braamfi sherville

44 ABSA Malvern Retail Gauteng 585 Jules Street, Malvern 

45 24A Bok Street Retail Free State 24A Bok Street, Welkom

46 FNB Florida Retail Gauteng 12 Goldman Street, Florida

47 Standard Bank Vanderbijlpark Retail Gauteng 10 Van Rijn Street, Vanderbijlpark

48 Norwood Centre Ellerines Retail Gauteng 74 Grant Avenue, Norwood, Johannesburg

49 Tzaneen Ellerines Retail Limpopo Cnr Joubert and Agatha Streets, Tzaneen

50 41 and 43 Pretoria Road, Kempton Park Retail Gauteng 41/43 Pretoria Road, Kempton Park

51 Alvaro Centre Retail Gauteng 82 President and Kruger Streets, Vanderbijlpark

52 Citizens Vereeniging Remainder of Erf 487 Retail Gauteng 28 Voortrekker Street, Vereeniging

53 Standard Bank Grahamstown Retail Eastern Cape Church Square, Grahamstown

54 31/33 Third St, Springs Retail Gauteng 31 and 33 Third Street, Springs

55 Geen and Richards Retail Gauteng 6 West Street, Kempton Park

56 Nedcor Building Germiston Retail Gauteng Cnr Jack and Victoria Streets, Germiston

57 ABSA Hercules Retail Gauteng 569 Van Der Hoff Road, Hercules, Pretoria

58 Beacon Centre Vereeniging Retail Gauteng 14 Beaconsfi eld Ave, Vereeniging

59 ABSA Derdepoort Retail Gauteng 62 Baviaanspoort Road, East Lynne, Pretoria

60 CMH Kempton Retail Gauteng 6 – 8 Jubilee Street, Kempton Park

61 1 President Street, Germiston Retail Gauteng 1 President Street, Germiston

62 Kruger Corner Vanderbijlpark Retail Gauteng 13 President Kruger Street, Vanderbijlpark 

Details of the property portfolio (continued)
as at 31 August 2011
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GLA

(m2)

Occupancy

%

Average rental

per m2

(R/m2)

Effective date

of acquisition

 Purchase price 

  (R’000) 

 Property valuation

as at

28 February 2011 

  (R’000) 

 2 501 61,90 84 25/04/2008  4 337  13 000 

 2 335 100 54 11/06/2007  15 484  12 500 

 2 600 100 53 25/04/2008  5 797  12 400 

 1 577 100 84 25/04/2008  15 059  12 000 

 1 982 100 30 05/03/2008  5 600  10 400 

 1 504 100 68 31/05/2007  8 100  10 300 

 1 824 100 59 25/04/2008  6 201  10 300 

 2 489 100 44 25/04/2008  7 669  10 200 

 2 023 68,41 40 25/04/2008  5 988  10 100 

 1 744 86,47 76 25/04/2008  7 788  10 100 

 1 155 100 78 25/04/2008  9 432  9 300 

 3 128 100 38 25/04/2008  7 788  8 900 

 1 764 100 58 25/04/2008  7 489  8 800 

 1 500 100 57 31/05/2007  8 000  8 700 

 1 500 100 55 31/05/2007  8 000  8 500 

 774 100 148 25/04/2008  7 235  8 400 

 1 997 100 44 25/04/2008  11 981  8 100 

 1 087 100 76 25/04/2008  6 799  7 900 

 2 655 89,87 32 25/04/2008  6 842  7 900 

 1 102 100 93 17/08/2011  7 799  7 700 

 913 100 92 25/04/2008  7 319  7 300 

 1 532 100 51 30/04/2008  7 146  7 100 

 3 858 100 25 25/04/2008  7 868  6 900 

 1 332 100 62 25/04/2008  7 899  6 800 

 865 100 80 25/04/2008  4 320  6 600 

 2 748 100 27 25/04/2008  8 867  6 600 

 1 063 100 40 25/04/2008  6 263  6 600 

 996 100 82 17/08/2011  6 600  6 600 

 1 375 100 49 30/04/2008  8 865  6 400 

 1 595 100 43 25/04/2008  3 111  6 400 

 870 100 76 30/04/2008  6 875  6 300 

 1 493 100 46 25/04/2008  4 756  6 300 

 3 923 35 Vacant 25/04/2008  11 514  6 100 

 1 773 100 39 25/04/2008  7 606  5 900 

Section

Property portfolio
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No. Property name Sector Region Address

63 Standard Bank Mafi keng Retail North West Cnr Main and Robinson Streets, Mafi keng

64 Standard Bank Brakpan Retail Gauteng 622 Voortrekker Road, Brakpan

65 Pep Nigel Retail Gauteng 28 Hendrick Verwoerd Street, Nigel 

66 Score Tsakane Retail Gauteng

Cnr Mbazima and Tsakane Streets, Tsakane Ext 5, 

Ekurhuleni

67 Voortrekker St Benoni Town Talk Retail Gauteng 21 Voortrekker Street, Benoni

68 Palm St Mall Phalaborwa Retail Limpopo 24 Palm Street, Phalaborwa

69 Fastfood Corner Springs Retail Gauteng Cnr 9th Ave and 2nd Street, Selection Park, Springs

70 Amethyst Erf 1263, Carletonville Extension 2 Retail Gauteng 4 Amethyst Street, Carletonville

71 A & M Wescen Kempton Park Retail Gauteng Cnr West and Central Streets, Kempton Park

72 Buffalo Corner East London Retail Eastern Cape 38 - 40 Buffalo Street, East London

73 OK Express Centre Kempton Park Retail Gauteng 23 Pretoria Road, Kempton Park

74 Pretoria Road Barnetts, Kempton Park Retail Gauteng 33 Pretoria Road, Kempton Park

75 Standard Bank Sasolburg Retail Free State Kirchoffer Boulevard, Sasolburg

76 Beares Centre Town Talk Kuruman Retail Northern Cape 9 Bears Street, Kuruman

77 Standard Bank Secunda Retail Mpumalanga Etienne Rossouw Street, Secunda

78 Aliwal North Edgars Retail Eastern Cape 20 Somerset Street,  Aliwal North

79 Hobhouse Klerksdorp Retail North West 19 Emily Hobhouse, Klerksdorp

80 Princess Geenrich Benoni Retail Gauteng 1321 Princess Street, Benoni

81 Standard Bank Boksburg Retail Gauteng 262 Commissioner Street, Boksburg

82 Standard Bank Meyerton Retail Gauteng 4A Loch Street, Meyerton

83 Town Talk Mkuze Shopping Centre Retail KwaZulu-Natal Main Street, Mkuze

84 Safi con Germiston President Street Retail Gauteng 54 President Street, Germiston

85 Trentyre Alberton Retail Gauteng 56 7th Avenue, Alberton

86 Victoria and Knox Streets, Germiston Retail Gauteng 236 Victoria Street, Germiston

87 Kotze Place, Hillbrow Retail Gauteng 62 Kotze Street, Braamfontein

88 39 Oxford Street, East London Retail Eastern Cape 39 Oxford Street, East London

89 Goodyear Kempton Park Retail Gauteng 79 Pretoria Road, Kempton Park

90 Church Street West, Pretoria Retail Gauteng 472 Church Street, Pretoria

91 Standard Bank Humansdorp Retail Eastern Cape 612 Main Street, Humansdorp

92 Beaconsfi eld Vereeniging Retail Gauteng 15 Beaconsfi eld Ave, Vereeniging

93 Barberton Ellerines Retail Mpumalanga 100 De Villiers Street, Barberton

94 Town Talk Tzaneen Retail Limpopo Cnr Danie Joubert and Agatha Streets, Tzaneen

95 Attie Fourie Place, Vanderbijlpark Retail Gauteng 50 Attie Fourie Street, Civic Centre, Vanderbijlpark

96 Trentyre Benoni Retail Gauteng 49 Lake Avenue, Benoni

Details of the property portfolio (continued)
as at 31 August 2011
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GLA

(m2)

Occupancy

%

Average rental

per m2

(R/m2)

Effective date

of acquisition

 Purchase price 

  (R’000) 

 Property valuation

as at

28 February 2011 

  (R’000) 

 1 071 100 62 25/04/2008  4 304  5 900 

 1 355 100 46 25/04/2008  4 513  5 700 

 1 027 100 59 25/04/2008  5 525  5 700 

 1 050 100 57 31/05/2007  5 000  5 600 

 2 102 100 33 25/04/2008  7 618  5 600 

 2 546 72,62 34 25/04/2008  4 889  5 500 

 451 100 117 25/04/2008  5 495  5 400 

 800 100 67 12/05/2008  4 811  5 100 

 866 100 61 30/04/2008  5 387  5 000 

 1 083 100 42 25/04/2008  4 064  5 000 

 850 100 67 30/04/2008  4 762  5 000 

 846 100 62 30/04/2008  5 288  5 000 

 885 100 54 25/04/2008  4 253  4 500 

 1 270 100 39 25/04/2008  3 561  4 400 

 863 100 53 30/04/2008  3 957  4 400 

 787 100 44 25/04/2008  5 433  4 300 

 832 100 58 25/04/2008  3 433  4 300 

 1 400 100 36 25/04/2008  4 067  4 300 

 1 396 100 32 25/04/2008  3 261  4 300 

 690 100 62 25/04/2008  3 547  4 100 

 1 050 100 45 25/04/2008  1 978  4 000 

 1 927 25,27 25 25/04/2008  7 292  4 000 

 1 983 100 22 25/04/2008  3 945  4 000 

 3 618 74,13 14 25/04/2008  9 108  4 000 

 740 100 73 25/04/2008  1 795  3 900 

 490 100 68 25/04/2008  3 228  3 800 

 900 100 90 25/04/2008  3 355  3 800 

 866 100 4 30/04/2008  6 605  3 600 

 548 100 71 25/04/2008  2 734  3 600 

 880 100 36 25/04/2008  6 536  3 400 

 883 100 39 25/04/2008  2 964  3 300 

 653 100 47 25/04/2008  3 164  3 200 

 915 0 Vacant 25/04/2008  5 100  3 000 

 595 100 82 25/04/2008  4 182  3 000 

Section

Property portfolio
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No. Property name Sector Region Address

97 Town Talk Modjadjiskloof Retail Limpopo Main Road and Botha Street, Modjadjiskloof 

98 Perm Building Boksburg Retail Gauteng 310 Commissioner Street, Boksburg

99 Kleynhans Corner, White River Retail Mpumalanga 13 Theo Kleynhans Street, White River

100 Mauriso Court Germiston Retail Gauteng 100 Knox Street, Germiston

101 69 Main Reef, Randfontein Retail Gauteng 69 Main Reef Road, Randfontein

102 Zeolite Park, Carletonville Retail Gauteng 3 Zeolite Street, Carletonville

103 Ellerines Kuruman Russells Retail Northern Cape 8 Beare Street, Kuruman

104 Metro Koringpunt Retail Limpopo

Portion of Farm Zebediela, Location 123, Koringpunt, 

Limpopo

105 Metro Malaita Retail Mpumalanga B 66/08 Sekhukhuni Sts, Malaitasekhukhuni

106 Princess Jones Benoni Retail Gauteng Cnr Tom Jones and Princess Avenue, Benoni

107 Odendaalsrus Centre Ellerines Retail Free State 47 Van Der Vyver Street, Odendaalsrus

108 1 Palm St, Phalaborwa Retail Limpopo 14 Palm Street, Phalaborwa

109 Bears Amanzimtoti Retail KwaZulu-Natal 13 Bjorseth Crescent, Amanzimtoti

110 Geen & Richards Phalaborwa Retail Limpopo 22 Palm Street, Phalaborwa

111 Hartbeesfontein Retail North West 92 Voortrekker Street, Hartbeesfontein

112 Milady’s Brakpan Retail Gauteng 572 Voortrekker Street, Brakpan

113 Volksrust Ackermans Retail KwaZulu-Natal 61 Joubert Street, Volksrust

114 Standard Bank Amanzimtoti Retail KwaZulu-Natal 10 Bjorseth Crescent, Amanzimtoti

Total Retail

Industrial

115 Range Road, Blackheath Industrial Western Cape 5 Range Way, Blackheath, Kuils River

116 Sifon Park Industrial Gauteng 238 Sifon Street, Robertville Ext 10

117 Vana Road Industrial Gauteng

Cnr Vana Drive and Pero Road, Jupiter Ext 3, 

Germiston

118 Bernie Street Industrial Gauteng Cnr Bernie Street and Hilton Road, Kya Sands Ext 44

119 Arbeid Street Industrial Gauteng 11 Arbeid Street, Strijdompark

120 Anderbolt McCarthy Industrial Gauteng 246 Francis Road, Dormehl, Anderbolt, Boksburg 

121 Carrier/Metraclark Industrial Gauteng 14 Mandy Road, Reuven, Johannesburg

122 Jasco Building Industrial Gauteng 12 Delphi Street, Eastgate Ext 18, Sandton

123 9 Grenville Avenue, Epping Industrial Western Cape 9 Grenville Avenue, Epping

124 139 Sixth Street Industrial Gauteng 139 Sixth Street, Wynberg, Sandton 

125 Anvil Road, Robertville Industrial Gauteng 1037-1041 Anvil Road, Robertville, Roodepoort

126 African Glass Centurion Industrial Gauteng 13 Park Avenue North, Rooihuiskraal Extension 31

127 Alert Industrial Gauteng 26 Western Boulevard, City West, Johannesburg

Details of the property portfolio (continued)
as at 31 August 2011

# Annualised weighted average rental per square metre per sector
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GLA

(m2)

Occupancy

%

Average rental

per m2

(R/m2)

Effective date

of acquisition

 Purchase price 

  (R’000) 

 Property valuation

as at

28 February 2011 

  (R’000) 

 1 072 100 21 25/04/2008  3 385  2 950 

 1 655 100 17 25/04/2008  3 339  2 800 

 1 019 36,90 59 25/04/2008  3 583  2 750 

 598 100 34 25/04/2008  3 838  2 600 

 1 010 100 29 25/04/2008  4 302  2 400 

 2 017 100 10 12/05/2008  2 721  2 200 

 667 100 29 25/04/2008  1 789  2 130 

 1 200 100 17 05/03/2008  1 650  2 100 

 1 700 100 12 05/03/2008  1 750  2 100 

 1 141 52,94 Vacant 25/04/2008  4 059  2 100 

 1 055 68,25 20 25/04/2008  2 684  2 000 

 935 57,22 37 25/04/2008  1 236  2 000 

 1 384 67,56 21 02/03/2007  4 200  1 800 

 810 0 Vacant 25/04/2008  2 374  1 700 

 301 100 63 25/04/2008  1 314  1 700 

 450 100 Vacant 25/04/2008  3 128  1 500 

 500 100 33 25/04/2008  1 150  1 500 

 783 0 Vacant 25/04/2008  3 052  1 299 

220 269 54,39#  1 047 281  1 123 029 

 10 979 80,61 27 07/06/2007  57 850  25 000 

 9 298 79,22 28 07/06/2007  22 975  25 000 

 8 195 100 37 07/06/2007  17 477  23 000 

 6 343 100 40 06/02/2007  15 600  22 600 

 5 478 32,40 12 07/06/2007  15 843  20 900 

 3 026 100 50 17/08/2011  16 300  16 300 

 7 115 100 24 17/08/2011  16 300  16 300 

 4 507 100 40 17/08/2011  15 900  15 900 

 7 022 100 22 11/06/2007  8 452  14 900 

 4 639 100 33 07/06/2007  10 448  13 300 

 4 701 100 33 17/08/2011  13 300  13 300 

 2 216 100 70 30/04/2008  1 657  13 200 

 4 351 100 34 17/08/2011  13 100  13 100 

Section

Property portfolio
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Details of the property portfolio (continued)
as at 31 August 2011

No. Property name Sector Region Address

128 Wynberg 506 Industrial Gauteng 56 6th Street, Wynberg, Sandton

129 Seatings Industrial Gauteng 14 Bunsen Street, Industria, Johannesburg

130 Dauphin Seatings Industria Industrial Gauteng 12 Bunsen Street, Industria, Johannesburg

131 Eastgate Minis Industrial Gauteng 11 and 13 Delphi Street, Eastgate, Sandton

132 Cavaleros Malvern Industrial Gauteng 7 Geldenhuis Road, Malvern East, Germiston

133 Humcor Industrial Gauteng 9 Borax Street, Alrode Ext 7, Alberton

134 Deco Distributors Industrial Free State 16 Leon Bartel Street, Erf 26787, Bloemfontein Ext 126

135 1 Killarney, Milnerton Industrial Western Cape No 1 Killarney Avenue, Milnerton

136 Wynpol 679 Industrial Gauteng Cnr Thora Crescent and 4th Street, Wynberg, Sandton

137 5th Avenue Corner, Wynberg Industrial Gauteng 326 6th Avenue, Wynberg, Sandton

138 African Magnets Duncanville Industrial Gauteng 5/7 Leeuwenhoek Road, Vereeniging

139 Safi con Driehoek Industrial Gauteng 32 Rose Innes Road, Germiston

140 Sandvale Centre Industrial Gauteng 3 Sandvale Road, Isando

141 Stanley Tools Industrial Gauteng 289 Granville Ave, Robertville, Roodepoort

Total Industrial

Offi ce

142 Johnson Wax Offi ce Gauteng 192 Smit Street, Fairlands, Johannesburg 

143 Metcash Offi ces Gauteng

49 Crownwood Road, Portion 10 Erf 25 Theta Ext 1 

Township, Johannesburg

144 Finance House Offi ces Gauteng 25 Ernest Oppenheimer Drive, Bruma, Johannesburg

145 Boardwalk Place Midrand Offi ces Gauteng 10 Boardwalk, Halfway House, Midrand

146 Absa Horizon Park Offi ces Gauteng 161 Ontdekkers Road, Horison Park, Roodepoort

147 Nemisa Building Offi ces Gauteng 21 Girton Road, Parktown, Johannesburg

148 Agency 1 Offi ces Gauteng

Cnr Witkoppen and Leeukop Drives, Sunninghill, 

Johannesburg

149 360 Pretoria Avenue Offi ces Gauteng 360 Pretoria Avenue, Randburg, Johannesburg

150 Bruma Boulevard Offi ces Gauteng 20 Zulberg Close, Bruma, Johannesburg

151 Sanburn Building Offi ces Gauteng 68 Woburn Avenue, Benoni

152 Old Mutual Secunda Offi ces Mpumalanga Horwood Street, Secunda

153 Montrose Place Offi ces Gauteng

Bekker Road, Waterfall Park, Vorna Valley Ext 21, 

Midrand

154 Markem Offi ces Kempton Park Offi ces Gauteng 21 Margaret Avenue, Kempton Park

155 Howick Mews Offi ces Gauteng 1342 Howick Close, Waterfall Park, Midrand

156 295 Kent Avenue Offi ces Gauteng 295 Kent Avenue, Randburg

157 College House Offi ces Gauteng 26 Peter Place, Lyme Park, Johannesburg

# Annualised weighted average rental per square metre per sector
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Section

Property portfolio

GLA

(m2)

Occupancy

%

Average rental

per m2

(R/m2)

Effective date

of acquisition

 Purchase price 

  (R’000) 

 Property valuation

as at

28 February 2011 

  (R’000) 

 4 424 100 29 25/04/2008  8 593  12 200 

 5 289 100 25 17/08/2011  10 600  10 600 

 3 476 100 18 17/08/2011  10 100  10 100 

 2 600 75 34 07/06/2007  8 010  8 700 

 3 750 85,44 17 25/04/2008  7 986  8 300 

 2 658 100 32 25/04/2008  6 109  7 800 

 2 867 100 28 14/02/2007  10 007  7 300 

 3 073 100 23 11/04/2008  11 000  7 300 

 3 532 100 21 25/04/2008  4 766  6 600 

 2 100 100 21 25/04/2008  7 642  5 000 

 2 673 100 11 30/04/2008  5 340  4 300 

 1 894 100 28 25/04/2008  7 600  4 200 

 874 100 50 25/04/2008  10 893  4 000 

 1 070 100 28 17/08/2011  3 100  3 100 

118 150 30,21#  336 948  332 300 

 1 716 100 58 17/08/2011  7 200  7 200 

 8 000 100 87 01/11/2007  57 200  69 500 

 7 559 89,95 67 17/08/2011  50 903  53 200 

 6 455 100 78 23/02/2007  45 848  52 600 

 2 427 100 141 17/08/2011  30 234  38 300 

 3 600 100 107 21/12/2006  37 000  38 200 

 2 596 100 87 17/08/2011  27 465  30 400 

 4 185 100 55 17/08/2011  26 971  29 600 

 4 362 96,06 78 17/08/2011  28 359  28 800 

 6 757 100 51 17/08/2011  32 757  25 900 

 3 704 86,18 49 08/02/2008  22 500  25 500 

 3 942 86,61 61 19/06/2007  9 000  24 800 

 4 694 81,76 49 04/12/2006  16 000  23 000 

 3 643 84,96 77 24/04/2007  20 800  22 500 

 3 145 100 67 18/05/2007  11 500  21 500 

 1 850 100 99 17/08/2011  19 740  17 700 
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Details of the property portfolio (continued)
as at 31 August 2011

No. Property name Sector Region Address

158 Waterview Corner Offi ces Gauteng 2 Ernest Oppenheimer Drive, Bruma, Johannesburg

159 Sloane Park Bryanston Offi ces Gauteng 1 Libertas Road, Bryanston Ext 16, Sandton 

160 Sandhaven Offi ce Park Offi ces Gauteng

Cnr Pongola Crescent and Katherine Street, Eastgate 

Ext 17, Sandton

161 Alcom House Offi ces Gauteng 65 Rivonia Road Extension, Rivonia

162 New Road Offi ces Offi ces Gauteng 30 New Road, Randjiespark, Midrand

163 SARS Building Welkom Offi ces Free State Graaf Street, Welkom

164 Horison Offi ce Park Offi ces Gauteng No 4/6 Kingfi sher Street, Horison Park, Roodepoort

165 Hazelwood Place Pretoria Offi ces Gauteng 15 Dely Road, Hazelwood, Pretoria

166 Selbourne House, Bloemfontein Offi ces Free State Cnr First and Selbourne Streets, Bloemfontein

167 Nedbank Building Isando Offi ces Gauteng Cnr Monteer Road and Brewery Street, Isando Ext 1

168 Witbank Hosken House Offi ces Mpumalanga 6 Neven Street X60, Witbank

169 Perm Building Kempton Park Offi ces Gauteng 12 Voortrekker Street, Kempton Park

170 Perm Building Springs Offi ces Gauteng 74 3rd Street, Springs

171 26 Siddle Street Offi ces North West 26 and 28 Siddle Street, Klerksdorp

172 Mellis Park Offi ces Gauteng Portion 1334 Rivonia Road, Rivonia Ext 20

173 Emsure Benoni Offi ces Gauteng Cnr Elston and Rothsay Streets, Benoni

174 96 Cambridge Street Offi ces Free State 96 Cambridge Street, Bethlehem

175 Enel Offi ces Gauteng

Somerset Offi ce Park, 5 Libertas Road, Bryanston, 

Johannesburg

Total Offi ces

TOTAL PROPERTIES

# Annualised weighted average rental per square metre per sector

The average property yield, on an annualised basis, is 10,4%.
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Section

Property portfolio

GLA

(m2)

Occupancy

%

Average rental

per m2

(R/m2)

Effective date

of acquisition

 Purchase price 

  (R’000) 

 Property valuation

as at

28 February 2011 

  (R’000) 

 2 460 100 82 17/08/2011  15 243  15 400 

 1 304 100 88 31/05/2007  17 700  14 000 

 1 901 61,70 73 23/01/2007  12 000  12 300 

 1 679 100 80 12/2/2007  12 600  12 000 

 1 798 100 55 07/06/2007  11 500  12 000 

 2 746 100 39 25/04/2008  6 567  11 200 

 3 440 100 56 17/08/2011  11 100  11 100 

 1 637 0 2 31/01/2007  12 500  8 100 

 1 188 100 111 25/04/2008  6 547  7 800 

 1 125 100 63 25/04/2008  6 521  6 900 

 614 100 89 25/04/2008  4 296  5 400 

 3 527 87,67 15 30/04/2008  5 519  4 800 

 2 011 0 Vacant 25/04/2008  6 107  4 400 

 1 317 50,04 44 25/04/2008  4 803  4 200 

 634 100 52 31/01/2007  4 900  4 150 

 1 383 100 69 17/08/2011  3 900  3 900 

 539 100 52 25/04/2008  2 678  3 100 

 272 100 86 17/08/2011  2 388  2 320 

98 210 70,85#  590 346  651 770 

436 629 51,32#  1 974 575  2 107 099
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A-linked units

Linked unitholder spread

Number of 

unitholdings %

Number of

A-linked units %

1 – 1 000 linked units 4 2,34 4 000 0,00

1 001 – 10 000 linked units 5 2,92 22 100 0,02

10 001 – 100 000 linked units 68 39,77 3 494 811 3,31

100 001 – 1 000 000 linked units 68 39,77 24 347 838 23,07

1 000 001 linked units and over 26 15,20 77 663 644 73,59

Total 171 100,00 105 532 393 100,00

Distribution of linked unitholders

Banks 1 0,58 75 900 0,07

Endowment funds 8 4,68 1 783 900 1,69

Individuals 5 2,92 9 200 0,01

Insurance companies 13 7,60 12 200 376 11,56

Investment companies 1 0,58 380 000 0,36

Medical schemes 12 7,02 3 811 500 3,61

Mutual funds 48 28,07 55 437 264 52,53

Nominees and trusts 3 1,75 260 900 0,25

Private companies 3 1,75 7 205 693 6,83

Retirement funds 77 45,03 24 367 660 23,09

Total 171 100,00 105 532 393 100,00

Public/Non-public linked unitholders

Non-public linked unitholders 3 1,75 2 796 962 2,65

Directors and associates of the company holdings 3 1,75 2 796 962 2,65

Public shareholders 168 98,25 102 735 431 97,35

Total 171 100,00 105 532 393 100,00

Benefi cial linked unitholders holding 5% or more

Coronation Fund Managers 28 762 170 27,25

Old Mutual 16 100 000 15,26

Government Employees Pension Fund 8 641 100 8,19

STANLIB 8 326 432 7,89

Investment Solutions 6 578 974 6,23

Total 68 408 676 64,82

Analysis of unitholding
as at 31 August 2011
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Section

Shareholding

B-linked units

Linked unitholder spread

Number of 

unitholdings %

Number of

B-linked units %

1 – 1 000 linked units 1 2,33 1 000 0,00

1 001 – 10 000 linked units 7 16,28 56 000 0,05

10 001 – 100 000 linked units 9 20,93 316 000 0,30

100 001 – 1 000 000 linked units 15 34,88 6 402 200 6,07

1 000 001 linked units and over 11 25,58 98 757 193 93,58

Total 43 100,00 105 532 393 100,00

Distribution of linked unitholders

Individuals 5 11,63 43 000 0,04

Insurance companies 2 4,65 887 300 0,84

Investment companies 1 2,33 10 000 0,01

Mutual funds 6 13,95 10 668 900 10,11

Nominees and trusts 2 4,65 500 700 0,47

Private companies 4 9,30 7 225 646 6,85

Public companies 2 4,65 66 589 872 63,10

Retirement funds 21 48,84 19 606 975 18,58

Total 43 100,00 105 532 393 100,00

Public/Non-public linked unitholders

Non-public shareholders 4 9,3 69 386 834 65,75

Holding more than 10% 2 4,65 66 589 872 63,10

Directors and Associates of the Company Holdings 2 4,65 2 796 962 2,65

Public shareholders 39 90,7 36 145 559 34,25

Total 43 100,00 105 532 393 100,00

Benefi cial linked unitholders holding 5% or more

Redefi ne Properties Ltd 66 589 872 63,10

Government Employees Pension Fund 10 015 375 9,49

Investec 8 638 300 8,19

Total 85 243 547 80,77
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1. Distribution for the A debentures
 Each A-debenture shall confer on the debenture holder thereof the right to receive interest, as follows:

1.1 Financial years ending 31 August 2011 and 31 August 2012

1.1.1 For the income period ending 31 August 2011, a distribution equivalent to 57% of the total distributable income (PBT – T – S in clause 10.3) 

for that period;

1.1.2 For the income period ending 29 February 2012, a distribution of 39,685 cents each per A-debenture (“the fi rst 2012 distribution”); 

1.1.3 For the income period ending 31 August 2012, a distribution of 39,685 cents per A-debenture (“the second 2012 distribution”).

1.2 Financial years ending 31 August 2013 to 31 August 2017

1.2.1 For the fi rst income periods, a distribution per A-debenture equivalent to 105% of the fi rst distribution in respect of the immediate preceding 

fi nancial year.

1.2.2 For the second income periods, a distribution per A-debenture equivalent to 105% of the second distribution in respect of the immediate 

preceding fi nancial year.

1.3 Financial years ending 31 August 2018 until repayment of the A-debentures

1.3.1  For the fi rst income period for the fi nancial year ending 31 August 2017 and for the fi nancial years thereafter until repayment of the  

A-debentures, a distribution per A-debenture equivalent to the prior year’s fi xed distribution for the fi rst income period per A-debenture, 

escalated by an amount equal to the lesser of 5% or the most recently available CPI fi gure.

1.3.2 For the second income period for the fi nancial year ending 31 August 2017 and for the fi nancial years thereafter until repayment of the  

A-debentures, a distribution per A-debenture equivalent to the prior year’s fi xed distribution for the second income period in the prior year  

A-debenture, escalated by an amount equal to the lesser of 5% or the most recently available CPI fi gure.

2.  Distribution for the B debentures
  Each fi rst B-debenture shall confer on the holder thereof the right to receive interest in respect of the fi rst and second distribution periods, a 

return amounting to the balance, if any, of the interest distribution after deducting the distribution to the A-debentures.

Distribution policy

A-debenture, escalated by an amount equal to the lesser of 5% or the most recently available CPI fi gure.

2.  Distribution for the B debentures
 Each fi rst B-debenture shall confer on the holder thereof the right to receive interest in respect of the fi rst and second distribution periods, a

return amounting to the balance, if any, of the interest distribution after deducting the distribution to the A-debentures.
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Notice in terms of section 29 of the Companies Act, 2008 (“the Act’)

These annual financial statements have been audited in compliance with the Act. These annual financial statements have been prepared by 

Ms B de Bruyn, CA (SA).

Notice in terms of section 29 of the Companies Act, 2008 (“the Act’)

These annual financial statements have been audited in compliance with the Act. These annual financial statements have been prepared by 

Ms B de Bruyn, CA (SA).
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Directors’ responsibility and approval
for the year ended 31 August 2011

Certificate of the Company Secretary

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the company and group annual financial statements of Dipula Income Fund 

Limited, comprising the statement of financial position at 31 August 2011 and statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 

flows for the year then ended. To achieve the highest standards of financial reporting, these financial statements have been drawn up to comply with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2008, as amended.

The directors’ responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls that will ensure the preparation, integrity and 

fair presentation of the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, selecting and applying appropriate accounting 

policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors have reviewed the appropriateness of the accounting policies and conclude that estimates and judgements are reasonable. They are 

of the opinion that the annual financial statements fairly present the financial position of the business at 31 August 2011 and its financial performance 

and cash flows for the year to 31 August 2011. The external auditors, who have unrestricted access to all records and information, as well as to the 

audit committee, concur with this statement. The directors believe that all representations made to the independent auditors during their audit are 

valid and appropriate. The unqualified audit report of PKF (Jhb) Inc. is presented on page 40.

In addition, the directors have also reviewed the cash flow forecast for the year to 31 August 2012 and believe that the company and the group have 

adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going 

concern basis. These financial statements support the viability of the company and of the group.

The annual financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 17 February 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

Izak Petersen Brigitte de Bruyn

Chief Executive Officer Financial Director

17 February 2012

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act 2008, as amended (“the Act”) we declare that to the best of our knowledge, for the year ended 

31 August 2011, Dipula Income Fund Limited has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC) all such returns as are 

required of a public company, and all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Probity Business Services (Pty) Limited

Company Secretary

Johannesburg

17 February 2012
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee

Terms of reference
The Audit and Risk Committee has an independent role with accountability to unitholders in respect of its statutory duties, and to the board in respect 

of duties assigned to it by the board as detailed in its Terms of Reference. The Terms of Reference are reviewed and updated on a regular basis. 

The committee has performed its duties during the past financial year in accordance with the Terms of Reference.

Composition and meetings
The committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors and will meet at least twice per year. Members of the committee are all 

financially literate with the requisite levels of financial expertise. The members of the committee are as follows:

Y Waja CA(SA), HDip Tax Law – Chairman

BH Azizollahoff BA (NY) MBA (Wits)

Professor E Links MCom (Economics) PhD (Economics)

Details of the meetings and attendance have been included in the corporate governance report on page 18.

The Chief Executive Officer, the Financial Director, the Chief Operating Officer, the Executive Director and external auditor attend meetings of the 

committee by invitation. The external auditor meets with the committee without any of the executives on an annual basis and has unrestricted access 

to the committee.

Statutory duties
The committee performed the following activities during the year under review:

•  Considered the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and ensured that the scope of additional services provided did not impair 

their independence;

• Reviewed the external audit plan and approved the external auditors’ fee proposal for the 2011 fi nancial year;

• Approved the non-audit-related services performed by the external auditors in the year in accordance with the policy established and approved 

by the board;

• Considered accounting treatments, signifi cant fi nancial transactions and other fi nancial information;

• In compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements 3.84(h), the committee reviewed the performance, appropriateness and expertise of the 

Financial Director, Ms B de Bruyn; and

• Considered the appropriateness of the accounting policies.

After assessing the requirements set out in section 94(7)(a-e) of the Companies Act, the committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity 

of the external auditors, and recommends the reappointment of the external auditors at the next annual general meeting.

Internal financial controls
Based on control processes in place, assurances obtained from management and the issues raised by the external auditors in their various 

management reports, the committee is of the opinion that the significant internal financial controls are effective.

Finance function and financial director
The committee has considered and has satisfied itself on the appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of resources of the finance function of 

the company. The committee also confirms that the company’s Financial Director Brigitte de Bruyn, had the necessary expertise and experience to 

carry out her duties.

Annual financial statements
Based on processes and assurances obtained, the committee recommended the annual financial statements to the board for approval.

Going concern
The committee, through its review of the 2012 budget and discussions with management, reported to the board that it supported management’s 

view that the company will continue to be a going concern in the foreseeable future.

Risk management
The committee reviews the analysis of the critical risks facing the company on an annual basis. As the company only listed on 17 August 2011, the 

committee’s first formal risk analysis meeting will be held in February 2012. 

Y Waja

Chairman

17 February 2012
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Report of the independent auditor

To the unitholders of Dipula Income Fund Limited

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of Dipula Income Fund Limited which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial 

position as at 31 August 2011, and the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 

statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, and the directors’ 

report, as set out on pages 41 to 73.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine 

is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 

selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 

the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of Dipula Income Fund 

Limited as of 31 August 2011, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

PKF (Jhb) Inc

Director: RM Huiskamp

Registration number 1994/001166/21

Chartered Accountants (SA)

Registered Auditors

Sandton

17 February 2012
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 August 2011

To the unitholders of Dipula Income Fund Limited
We have pleasure in presenting the annual financial statements of Dipula Income Fund Limited for the year ended 31 August 2011.

Unit structure
The Dipula A- and B-linked unit structure offers investors two different risk and reward propositions. The distribution of the A units escalates at 5% 

per annum until August 2017 and thereafter at the lower of CPI or 5%. These units have preferential entitlements to income distributions. 

The remaining distributable income accrues to the B units.

Nature of business
Dipula Income Fund Limited (“the Fund”) is a variable property loan stock company (“PLS”) listed on the JSE Limited (“JSE”). Its subsidiaries own 

a diversified property portfolio of 175 retail, industrial and office properties from which rental income streams are derived.

Review of operations, business combinations and acquisitions
Dipula acquired Mergence Africa Property Fund (Pty) Ltd which owns 51 properties with effect from 1 August 2011. In addition, Dipula acquired 

Asakhe Realty Investment Fund (Pty) Ltd which owns 19 properties with effect from 17 August 2011 (refer note 21). The results of the group and the 

company are set out in the attached financial statements and notes. Through Mergence, Dipula acquired a R395 million portfolio of properties 

from Redefine.

Distributions
Dipula achieved total distributions for the year ended 31 August 2011 of 4,82 cents compared to a revised forecast distribution of 4,70 cents. 

The revised forecast distribution is explained in the financial director’s report. The A-linked units received 2,77 cents and the B-linked units received 

2,06 cents.

Stated capital and debentures
The authorised share capital of the company consists of 200 million A-linked units and 200 million B-linked units of no par value. Each ordinary share 

is linked to a debenture of R4,41 and may only be traded on the JSE as a linked unit. Further details of the share capital and debentures are set out 

in notes 9 and 10 of the annual financial statements.

Property valuations
The portfolio was valued by independent property valuers at R2,1 billion (2010: R0,8 billion) and the net asset value per A-linked unit (excluding 

deferred taxation) was R6,60 (2010: N/A) and R6,60 (2010: N/A) per B-linked unit at year-end.

Borrowings
The weighted average cost of borrowings for the group was 8,59% (2010: 10,64%) at 31 August 2011 with 80% of the group’s borrowings subject 

to fixed interest rates. The group’s facilities with financial institutions as at 31 August 2011 was R843 million with R760 million being utilised at year-

end. The group’s gearing ratio at 31 August 2011 was 36% (2010: 85%).

Debt facility
The group’s borrowings facility of R843 million with Standard Bank expires in August 2016 and has therefore been classified as a non-current liability.

Directorate
The directors of the company as at the date of this report were:

BH Azizollahoff#

B de Bruyn (Financial Director)*

NS Gumede*

E Links

ZJ Matlala (Chairperson)

IS Petersen (Chief Executive Officer)*

Y Waja

* Executive
# British

BH Azizollahoff, B de Bruyn, E Links, ZJ Matlala, IS Petersen and Y Waja retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and are all eligible for 

re-election.

The following director changes took place during the year:

BH Azizollahoff (appointed 20 May 2011)

B de Bruyn (appointed 20 May 2011)

E Links (appointed 20 May 2011)

M Magerman (appointed 20 May 2011; resigned 20 July 2011)

H Malekane (resigned 20 July 2011)

ZJ Matlala (appointed 20 May 2011)

IS Petersen (appointed 20 May 2011)

Y Waja (appointed 6 June 2011)
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Directors’ report (continued)

Directors’ remuneration

The executive directors are remunerated from the management fee payable to the asset management company.

• No remuneration was paid to the non-executive directors during the year under review.

• No remuneration was paid to either IS Petersen or NS Gumede by the asset management company during the year.

• The remuneration of the Financial Director, Ms B de Bruyn, as paid by the asset management company amounted to R175 000 (R175 000 basic salary).

Distributions to unitholders

Distributions to unitholders is disclosed in note 9 of the annual financial statements.

Directors’ interest

The interest of the directors in the linked units of Dipula Income Fund were as follows:

2011 2010

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

beneficial beneficial Total beneficial beneficial Total

A-linked units (number of units)

NS Gumede – 1 476 139 1 476 139 n/a n/a n/a

IS Petersen – 1 319 823 1 319 823 n/a n/a n/a

– 2 795 962 2 795 962 – – –

B-linked units (number of units)

NS Gumede – 1 476 139 1 476 139 n/a n/a n/a

IS Petersen – 1 319 823 1 319 823 n/a n/a n/a

– 2 795 962 2 795 962 – – –

There have been no changes in these holdings between the year-end and the date of this report.

Corporate governance and internal controls

The company’s status with regard to corporate governance and internal controls is set out in a separate statement in the integrated report.

Audit and Risk Committee and independence of auditor

The Audit and Risk Committee consists only of independent non-executive directors and has reviewed these financial statements prior to their 

submission to the board for approval. The Audit and Risk Committee has also assessed the independence of the external auditors and is satisfied 

with their independence. Further detail regarding the scope and mandate of the Audit and Risk Committee is detailed on page 39 of this integrated 

report.

Subsidiary companies

Information relating to the company’s interest in its subsidiaries is detailed in note 5 of the annual financial statements.

Going concern

The directors have made an assessment of the group and company’s ability to continue as a going concern and there is no reason to believe that 

the group and company will not be going concerns during the year ahead.

Subsequent events

The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year to the date of this report, not otherwise dealt 

with in this report or in the group and company financial statements that would significantly affect the operations, the results and the financial position 

of the group and company.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Probity Business Services (Pty) Ltd.

Business address

Block B, Dunkeld Park, 6 North Road, Dunkeld West, 2196

Postal address

PO Box 875, Parklands, 2121
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Statements of financial position
as at 31 August 2011

GROUP COMPANY

2011 2010 2009 2011 2010

Note

Audited

R’000

Audited/

 IAS 12

restated

R’000

Audited/

 IAS 12

 restated

R’000

Audited

R’000

Audited

R’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets  2 155 581  809 262  773 610  –  –

Investment property  2 107 099  809 262  773 610  –  –

Fair value of property portfolio for accounting 

purposes 2  2 072 684  794 347  761 115  –  –

Straight-line rental income accrual 3  34 415  14 915  12 495  –  –

Goodwill 4  48 482  –  –  –  –

Investment in subsidiaries 5  –  –  –  2 184 704 –

Current assets  46 338  4 800  9 722  10 746  –

Trade and other receivables 6  21 078  3 359  3 093  18  –

Cash and cash equivalents 7  25 260  1 441  6 629  10 728  –

Non-current assets held for sale

Investment property held for sale 8  21 400  –  –  –  –

Total assets  2 223 319  814 062  783 332  2 195 450  –

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 473 811  100 421  71 225  468 940  –

Stated capital 9 427 852  –  –  468 940 –

Fair value reserve 116 895  111 589  81 571  –  –

Accumulated loss (70 936) (11 168) (10 346)  –  –

Non-current liabilities  1 677 216  701 615  699 076  1 690 512  –

Debenture capital 10  900 629  –  –  931 012  –

Interest-bearing liabilities 11  759 500  393 629  397 629  759 500  –

Loans from related parties 12  –  290 116  288 594  –  –

Deferred taxation 13  17 087  17 870  12 853  –  –

Current liabilities  71 182  12 026  13 031  35 998  –

Trade and other payables 14  66 086  12 026  13 031  30 902  –

Linked unitholders for distribution  5 096  –  –  5 096  –

Non-current liabilities held for sale

Investment property held for sale – deferred 

taxation  1 110  –  – – –

Total equity and liabilities  2 223 319  814 062  783 332  2 195 450  –

Number of A-linked units in issue 105 532 393*

Number of B-linked units in issue 105 532 393*

Net asset value per A-linked unit (cents)1 651,19

Net asset value per B-linked unit (cents)1 651,19

Net asset value per A-linked unit (cents)2 659,81

Net asset value per B-linked unit (cents)2 659,81

* Excluding treasury linked units
1 Including deferred taxation
2 Excluding deferred taxation
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Statements of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 August 2011

GROUP COMPANY

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note

Audited

R’000

Audited /

 IAS 12

 restated

R’000

Audited

R’000

Audited

R’000

Revenue

Property portfolio  110 171  96 358  –  –

Rental income  106 647  93 938  –  –

Straight-line rental income accrual  3 524  2 420  –  –

Total revenue  110 171  96 358  –  –

Property expenses  (27 394)  (18 847)  –  –

Administration and corporate costs  (4 691)  (3 878)  (3)  –

Net operating profit/(loss) 15  78 086  73 633  (3)  –

Changes in fair values of investment properties  3 350  32 878  –  –

Profit/(loss) from operations  81 436  106 511  (3)  –

Interest paid 16  (140 895)  (72 889)  (2 769)  –

Interest received 17  322  587  7 868  –

(Loss)/profit before debenture interest and taxation  (59 137)  34 209  5 096  –

Debenture interest  (5 096)  –  (5 096)  –

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (64 233)  34 209  –  –

Taxation 18  9 771  (5 013)  –  –

(Loss)/profit for the year after taxation  (54 462)  29 196  –  –

Other comprehensive income/(expense)  –  – – –

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year 

attributable to equity holders  (54 462)  29 196  –  –

Total number of linked units in issue* 211 064 786

Number of A-linked units in issue  105 532 393* §

Number of B-linked units in issue  105 532 393* §

Weighted average number of A-linked units in issue  4 336 948 §

Weighted average number of B-linked units in issue  4 336 948 §

Basic loss per share (cents) (627,88) §

Headline loss per share (cents) (662,54) §

Basic loss per A-linked unit (cents) (560,60) §

Basic loss per B-linked unit (cents) (577,66) §

Headline loss per A-linked unit (cents) (595,26) §

Headline loss per B-linked unit (cents) (612,32) §

Distributable earnings per A-linked unit  2,77 §

Distributable earnings per B-linked unit  2,06 §

* Net of treasury linked units
§  The company had no linked units in issue during the 2010 fi nancial year. Instead 100 ordinary shares of R1 each were in issue. Based on this fact basic 

earnings per share was R291 960 per share and headline earnings per share was R9 210 per share which cannot be compared to the current year’s 

results as a result of the group’s restructuring

  The company does not have any dilutionery instruments in issue.
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Statements of cash flows
for the year ended 31 August 2011

GROUP COMPANY

Note

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 20  78 254  69 947 2 724  –

Interest received  322  587  7 868  –

Interest paid (140 895) (72 890) (2 769)  –

Net cash (utilised in)/generated from operating activities (62 319) (2 356) 7 823  –

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of investment properties (398 232) (354)  –  –

Acquisition of subsidiaries – net of cash acquired 21 (125 356)  – (134 737)  –

Loans advanced to subsidiaries  –  – (971 536)  –

Proceeds on disposal of investment properties  5 748  –  –  –

Net cash utilised in investing activities (517 840) (354) (1 106 273)  –

Cash flows from financing activities

Linked units issued – Stated capital 407 769  – 407 769  –

Linked units issued – Debentures 679 870  – 679 870  –

Listing expenses (48 260)  –  –  –

Interest-bearing liabilities raised/(repaid)  21 539 (4 000) 21 539  –

(Increase)/decrease in related party loans (456 940)  1 522  –

Net cash generated from/(utilised in) financing activities  603 978 (2 478) 1 109 178  –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  23 819 (5 188) 10 728  –

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  1 441  6 629  – –

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7  25 260  1 441 10 728  –
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Consolidated statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 August 2011 

Stated

capital/

Share capital

R’000

Fair value

reserve

R’000

Accumulated

loss

R’000

Total

equity

R’000

GROUP

Balance at 31 August 2008 as previously reported –  57 296 (9 098)  48 198

Restatement of opening balances – IAS 12 adoption –  24 275 (1 248)  23 027

Balance at 31 August 2009 (restated) –  81 571 (10 346)  71 225

Total comprehensive income for the year – –  29 196  29 196

– As previously reported – –  20 465  20 465

– Adoption of IAS 12 – –  8 731  8 731

Transfer of capital items to fair value reserve –  30 018 (30 018) –

– As previously reported –  20 225 (20 225) –

– Adoption of IAS 12 –  9 793 (9 793) –

Balance at 31 August 2010 (restated) –  111 589 (11 168)  100 421

Issue of linked units 468 940 – – 468 940

Share issue expenses (18 094) – – (18 094)

Treasury shares (22 994) – – (22 994)

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (54 462) (54 462)

Transfer of capital items to fair value reserve –  5 306 (5 306) –

Balance at 31 August 2011 427 852 116 895 (70 936) 473 811

COMPANY

Balance at 31 August 2008, 2009 and 2010* – – – –

Issue of linked units  468 940 – –  468 940

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – –

Balance at 31 August 2011  468 940  –  –  468 940

* 100 shares of R1 each in issue
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Notes to the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 August 2011

Reporting entity

Dipula Income Fund Limited (“Dipula” or “the company”) is a company domiciled in South Africa. The consolidated financial statements of the 

company for the year ended 31 August 2011 comprise the company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the group”). The financial 

statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 17 February 2012.

Basis of preparation

Basis of measurement

The consolidated and separate financial statements (“financial statements”) are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for investment property 

which is measured at fair value.

Statement of compliance

The annual financial statements have been consistently prepared in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”), the AC 500 series of interpretations, the JSE Listings Requirements and the requirements of the South African Companies Act, 2008.

The accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior period except for the recognition of deferred tax (refer note 22).

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in South African rand, which is also the functional currency of the group, rounded to its nearest thousand 

(R’000) unless otherwise indicated.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 

the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are 

based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the 

basis of making judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 

which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 

and future periods.

1  Accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2011 and the 

comparative restated information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2010.

1.1  Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are those entities over which the group has the ability, either directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies 

so as to obtain benefits from their activities.

In assessing control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable are taken into account.

The group financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities, operating results and cash flows of the company and its subsidiaries. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included from the effective dates of acquisition and up to the effective 

dates of disposal.

The accounting policies of the subsidiaries are consistent with those of the holding company.

In the company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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1.1 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses arising from intragroup transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 

financial statements.

1.2 Investment property

Investment properties are those held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both but not for sale in the ordinary course of 

business or for administration purposes.

The cost of investment property comprises the purchase price and directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent expenditure relating to 

investment property is capitalised when it is probable that there will be future economic benefits from the use of the asset. All other 

subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

After initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. These fair values are determined on an annual basis. Investment 

properties above R8 million at the last valuation date are valued by external independent registered valuers with appropriate and recognised 

professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of property being valued. Investment properties below 

R8 million at the last valuation are valued internally by the directors on an annual basis.

Valuations are done on the open market value basis and the valuers use either the discounted cash flow method or the capitalisation of net 

income method or a combination of the methods. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values are included in profit or loss for the 

period in which they arise. Unrealised gains, net of deferred tax, are transferred to a non-distributable fair value reserve in the statement of 

changes in equity. Unrealised losses, net of deferred tax, are transferred to the fair value reserve to the extent that the decrease does not 

exceed the amount held in the fair value reserve.

Immediately prior to disposal of investment property, the investment property is revalued to the net sales proceeds and such revaluation is 

recognised in profit or loss during the period in which it occurs.

Borrowing costs are capitalised to the extent that they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 

asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing 

costs are being incurred. Capitalisation of borrowing costs may continue until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.

If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised. The capitalisation rate is 

arrived at by reference to the actual rate payable on borrowings for redevelopment purposes or, with regard to that part of redevelopment 

cost financed out of general funds, the weighted average cost of borrowings.

Investment property held for sale

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the investment property is brought up to date in accordance with 

applicable IFRS. Then, on initial classification as held for sale, the investment property continues to be recognised at fair value.

1.3  Financial instruments

Financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and interest-bearing 

borrowings.

Recognition

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value which, except for financial instruments measured at fair value through profit and loss, 

include directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial instruments are measured as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents – Carried at amortised cost

Loans – Stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method net of impairment losses

Trade and other receivables – Stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method net of impairment losses

Trade and other payables – Carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method

Interest-bearing borrowings – Carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method

Debentures – Considered to be held-to-maturity and is amortised using the effective interest rate method

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised where:

• the contractual rights to receive cash fl ows from the asset have expired; and

• the group or company has transferred its rights to receive cash fl ows from the asset and either has transferred substantially all the risks 

and rewards of the asset, or has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 

control of the asset.
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1.3  Financial instruments (continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an existing liability is 

replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 

an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 

respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offset

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when the group and/or 

company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset 

and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.4  Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation 

is recognised in profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives from the date they are available for use. Intangible assets 

with an indefinite useful life are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses and are tested for impairment annually.

1.5  Derivative financial instruments

The group currently has no derivative financial instruments, but should it enter into these in the future, it would only do so in order to hedge 

its exposure to interest rate risks arising from financing activities. In accordance with its treasury policy, the group does not hold or issue 

derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. Derivatives used as hedges which do not qualify as such in terms of hedge accounting 

rules, are accounted for as trading instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are 

measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for through profit or loss. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in 

profit and loss when incurred.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the statement 

of financial position date, taking into account current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the counterparties.

1.6  Goodwill

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition 

of subsidiaries or businesses and comprises the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually for 

impairment. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that are largely independent from other 

assets and groups. Negative goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised directly in profit or loss.

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

1.7  Impairment

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets, other than investment property and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date for goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible 

assets that are not yet available for use.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount and 

is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit and then 

to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the greater of their fair value less cost to sell and their value in use. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using the original effective pre-tax discount 

rate. For any asset that does not generate largely independent cash flows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit 

to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 

in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount and there is an indication that the impairment loss no longer exists.
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1.7  Impairment (continued)

Non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Financial assets

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on 

the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount 

and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 

the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated 

by reference to its current fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively 

in groups that share similar credit characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after 

the impairment loss was recognised.

1.8  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash balances, call deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form 

an integral part of the group’s cash management, are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash 

flow statement.

1.9  Stated capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. External costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown as a deduction in equity 

from the proceeds.

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable costs, 

is recognised as a change in equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from total equity.

1.10  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has legal or constructive obligations arising from past events, from which outflows of economic 

benefits are probable, and where reliable estimates can be made of the amounts of the obligations. Where the effect of discounting is material, 

provisions are discounted. The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 

appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

1.11  Revenue

Revenue comprises gross rental revenue and recoveries of rates and operating costs, excluding VAT. Rental revenue from investment property 

is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part 

of the total rental revenue over the lease period.

1.12  Expenses

Service costs and property operating expenses

Service costs for service contracts entered into and property operating expenses are expensed as incurred.

1.13  Finance costs and finance income

Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest method.

Finance income comprises interest received on funds invested and is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, taking into account 

the effective yield on the asset.
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1.14  Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to 

the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. Current tax is the expected tax payable 

on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable 

in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the comprehensive liability method, based on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 

realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities 

that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably 

not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can 

be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

1.15  Segmental reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged either in providing services (business segment) or in providing 

services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and returns that are different from those 

of other segments. The group’s primary segment is based on business segments. There are no secondary segments. The business segments 

are determined based on the group’s management and internal reporting structure.

On a primary basis, the group operates in the following segments:

• Retail

• Industrial

• Commercial

The group will from time to time invest in/divest from certain primary segments, in which case segmental reporting will be adjusted to reflect 

only the relevant operating segments.

Segment results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of group revenue and expenses 

that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment. Segmental assets comprise those assets that are directly attributable to 

the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.

1.16  Related parties

Related parties in the case of the group include any shareholder who is able to exert a significant influence on the operating policies 

of  the group. Directors, their close family members and any employee who is able to exert significant influence on the operating policies 

of the group are also considered to be related parties. In the case of the company, related parties would also include subsidiaries.

1.17  Earnings per share and per linked unit

The group presents basic and diluted earnings per share and per linked unit. It also presents headline and diluted headline earnings per linked unit.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders by the weighted average number of shares 

in issue during the year.

Basic earnings per linked unit is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders plus interest paid to linked debenture 

holders by the weighted average number of linked units in issue during the year.

Headline earnings per linked unit is calculated by dividing headline earnings by the weighted average number of linked units in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders by the weighted average number of shares 

in issue, adjusted for the potential dilutive impact of outstanding shareholder options.

Diluted earnings per linked unit is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders plus interest paid to linked debenture 

holders by the weighted average number of linked units in issue, adjusted for the potential dilutive impact of outstanding shareholder options.

Diluted headline earnings per linked unit is calculated by dividing headline earnings by the weighted average number of linked units in issue, 

adjusted for the potential dilutive impact of outstanding shareholder options.
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Standards and interpretations affecting amounts reported in the current period

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current period and have affected the presentation 

of these financial statements.

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets – Amendments to IAS 12

The amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of fair valued investment property will be recovered entirely 

through sale. The effective date of the amendments is for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 and the amendment is adopted 

retrospectively. These amendments have been early adopted by Dipula and have resulted in a restatement of the deferred tax and 

non-distributable reserve balances.

Statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)

The group applies all applicable IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) in preparation of the financial statements.

Consequently, all IFRS statements that were effective at the date of issuing this report and are relevant to Dipula’s operations have been applied.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and interpretations were in issue but not effective:

New/revised International Financial Reporting Standards Issued Effective date

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – 

Amendments resulting from May 2010 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

May 2010 Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2011

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – 

Replacement of ‘fixed dates’ for certain exceptions with ‘the date of transition 

to IFRSs’

December 

2010

Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 July 2011

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Additional 

exemptions for entities ceasing to suffer from severe hyperinflation

December 

2010

Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 July 2011

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Amendments resulting from May 2010 

Annual Improvements to IFRS

May 2010 Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2011

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Amendments enhancing disclosures 

about transfers of financial assets

October 2010 Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 July 2011

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: – Classification and Measurement Original issue 

November 

2009

Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2015

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements Original issue 

May 2011

Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2013

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements Original issue 

May 2011

Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2013

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in Other Entities Original issue 

May 2011

Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2013

IFRS 13 Fair value measurement Original issue 

May 2011

Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2013

Revised International Accounting Standards Revised Effective date

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments resulting from May 2010 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs

May 2010 Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2012

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments to revise the way other 

comprehensive income is presented

June 2011 Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 July 2011

IAS 12 Income taxes – Limited scope amendment (recovery of underlying assets) December 

2010

Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2012

IAS 19 Employee benefits – Amended Standard resulting from the Post-Employment 

Benefits and Termination Benefits projects

Amended 

June 2011

Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2013

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures – Revised definition of related parties November 

2009

Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2011

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Reissued as IAS27 

Separate Financial Statements (as amended in 2011)

May 2010 Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2013

IAS 28 Investments in Associates – Reissued as IAS 28 Investments in Associates 

and Joint Ventures (as amended in 2011)

May 2010 Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2013

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting – Amendments resulting from May 2010 Annual 

Improvements to IFRS

May 2010 Annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2011
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R’000

2010

R’000

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

2 Investment property

2.1 Net carrying value

Cost  1 956 266  667 403  –  –

Fair value surplus  116 418  126 944  –  –

 2 072 684  794 347  –  –

2.2 Movement for the year

Investment properties at beginning of year  794 347  763 535  –  –

On acquisition of subsidiaries (excluding straight-line adjustment)  883 923  –  –  –

Acquisitions  395 000  659  –  –

Disposals (4 857)  –  –  –

Change in fair value  5 983  32 878  –  –

Tenant installations  1 391 (110)  –

Capitalised  1 857  191  –  –

Amortised (466) (301)  –  –

Lease commissions (and marketing commission)  421 (195)  –

Capitalised  1 375  513  –  –

Amortised (954) (708)  –  –

Straight-line rental income accrual – charge per statement of 

comprehensive income (3 524) (2 420)

Investment properties at end of year  2 072 684  794 347  –  –

2.3 Reconciliation to independent valuations

Investment properties at valuation at end of year per 2.2 above  2 072 684  794 347  –  –

Straight-line rental income accrual – per the statement of financial 

position  34 415  14 915  –  –

Independent valuations  2 107 099  809 262  –  –

A register of investment properties is available for inspection at the registered office of the company (see inside back cover).

In terms of the accounting policy, the portfolio is valued annually, with properties above R8 million being valued by independent registered 

valuers and properties below R8 million being valued by the directors. However, as a  result of Dipula listing in August 2011, all properties 

were valued by independent registered valuers on 28 February 2011. The valuations were performed by Broll Valuation Services and 

Alternative Real Estate who are both registered valuers in terms of section 19 of the Property Valuers Professional Act, No 47 of 2000. 

The directors are of the opinion that there have been no material changes in the value of the investment properties between the February 

valuations, concluded on 12 July 2011, and 31 August 2011.

The properties were valued using discounted cash flow methodology. The valuations were done on an open market basis with consideration 

given to the future earnings potential and applying an appropriate discount rate to a property.  Investment properties held for sale were valued 

at the net sale price, which is considered to be the fair value.

Investment properties are encumbered as set out in note 11.
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2011

R’000

2010

R’000

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

3 Straight-line rental income accrual

Balance at beginning of the year  14 915  12 495  – –

On acquisition of subsidiaries  15 976  –  – –

Current year movement  3 524  2 420  – –

Balance at end of the year  34 415  14 915  –  –

4 Goodwill

Reconciliation of goodwill

Balance at the beginning of the year  – –  – –

Additions through acquisitions  48 482 –  – –

Balance at the end of the year  48 482 – – –

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at 

acquisition, to the cash generating units that are expected to benefit 

from that business combination. For the purpose of annual impairment 

testing, goodwill is allocated to the following cash generating units 

expected to benefit for the synergies of the business combination in 

which the goodwill arises.

Mergence Africa Property Fund (Pty) Ltd  35 155 –  – –

Asakhe Realty Investment Fund (Pty) Ltd  13 327 –  – –

 48 482 –  – –

The group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are any indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amount of each cash generating unit was based on its value in use. The carrying amount of each cash generating unit was 

compared to the recoverable amount.

The value in use of each cash generating unit was determined by using the discounted cash flow valuation methodology. Discounted cash 

flow valuations were based on cash flow forecasts in respect of the continuing used of the cash generating unit.

For the year ended 31 August 2011 the value in use calculations were based on the following key assumptions:

•  discount rates of between 15% and 16,5%, which are based on the risk profi les and expected yields of the relevant property portfolios; 

and

•  growth rates of between 5% and 7% which do not exceed forecast average long-term growth rates relative to the markets in which the 

cash generating units operate.

• No goodwill was impaired during the year under review.
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R’000

2010

R’000

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

5 Investment in subsidiaries

Shares at cost – –  204 751  –

Loans to subsidiaries – –  1 979 953  –

– –  2 184 704  –

Effective interest Investment

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

5.1 Shares at cost

The company has interests in the following subsidiaries:

Dipula Property Investment Trust 100% 51%  –  –

Mergence Africa Property Fund (Pty) Ltd 100%  –  41 856  –

Asakhe Realty Investment Fund (Pty) Ltd 100%  –  162 895  –

Mergence Africa Property Investment Trust* 100%  –  –  –

Emerald Fire Investments (Pty) Ltd§ 100%  –  –  –

204 751 –

* Held through 100% interest in Mergence Africa Property Fund (Pty) Ltd
§ Held through 100% interest in Asakhe Realty Investment Fund (Pty) Ltd  

5.2 Loans to subsidiaries

Mergence Africa Property Investment Trust  801 242  –

Dipula Property Investment Trust  757 893  –

Mergence Africa Property Fund (Pty) Ltd  239 039  –

Emerald Fire Investments (Pty) Ltd  180 293  –

Asakhe Realty Investment Fund (Pty) Ltd  1 486  –

The above loans are all unsecured and carry a variable rate of interest. 

Interest charged during the financial year ended

31 August 2011 ranged from 0% to 10% per annum.

No fixed terms of repayment have been determined. 

Repayment is not expected within the next 12 months.

 1 979 953  –
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R’000

2010

R’000

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

6 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 17 469  2 069  –  –

Less: Impairment  (9 707)  (734)  –  –

7 762 1 335  –  –

Deposits 1 968 866  –  –

Prepayments 2 401 696  –  –

VAT receivable 6 866  –  –  –

Other receivables 2 081  462  18  –

21 078 3 359 18 –

7 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash 

equivalents comprise:

Bank balances  25 260 1 441  10 728  –

Bank overdraft  –  –  –  –

 25 260 1 441  10 728  –

Material bank balances are with The Standard Bank of South Africa 

Limited who have a Fitch Rating of AA.

8 Non-current assets held for sale

Investment properties acquired as “held for sale”

At beginning of the year  –  –  –  –

On acquisition of subsidiaries  21 400  –  –  –

At end of the year  21 400  –  –  –

9 Stated capital (2010: share capital and premium)

Authorised

2 000 000 000 A ordinary shares of no par value –  – –  –

2 000 000 000 B ordinary shares of no par value –  – –  –

1 000 ordinary shares of R1 each  1  1 1  1

Issued

105 556 893 A ordinary shares of no par value  105 557  –  105 557  –

105 556 893 B ordinary shares of no par value  105 557  –  105 557  –

100 ordinary shares of R1 each  –  –  –  –

Less: 24 500 A ordinary treasury shares (25)  –  –  –

Less: 24 500 B ordinary treasury shares (25)  –  –  –

 211 064  –  211 114  –

Reconciliation of movement in issued shares (A and B ordinary shares)

Balance at beginning of year  –  –  –

Issue for cash  407 769  –  407 769  –

Issued on acquisition of subsidiary  61 171  – 61 171  –

Share issue expenses (18 094)  –  –  –

Treasury shares (22 994)  –  –  –

Balance at end of year 427 852  –  468 940  –

The capital structure comprises equal number of A and B ordinary shares.

Each A ordinary share is linked to an A debenture which together comprises an A-linked unit (see note 10).

Each B ordinary share is linked to a B debenture which together comprises a B-linked unit (see note 10).

The unissued shares are under the control of the directors. This authority remains in force until the next annual general meeting.
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2011

R’000

2010

R’000

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

10 Debenture capital

Authorised

2 000 000 0000 (2010: nil) A-debentures of 441 cents  8 820 000  –  8 820 000  –

2 000 000 000 (2010: nil) B-debentures of 441 cents  8 820 000  –  8 820 000  –

Issued

105 556 893 (2010: nil ) A-debentures 105 557  – 105 557  –

105 556 893 (2010: nil ) B-debentures 105 557  – 105 557  –

Less: Treasury units 24 500 A-debentures (2010: nil) (25)  – –  –

Less: Treasury units 24 500 B-debentures (2010: nil) (25)  – –  –

211 064  – 211 114  –

Movement for the year

Balance at beginning of year  –  –  –  –

A-debentures issued for cash during the year 339 935  – 339 935  –

B-debentures issued for cash during the year 339 935  – 339 935  –

Issued on acquisition of subsidiary 101 956  – 101 956  –

Issued on conversion of loan to equity 149 186  – 149 186  –

Less: Treasury units 24 500 A-debentures (2010: nil) (108)  – –  –

Less: Treasury units 24 500 B-debentures (2010: nil) (108)  – –  –

Issue expenses (30 167)  – –  –

 900 629  –  931 012  –

Each A-debenture is indivisibly linked to one A ordinary share in the share capital of the company and each B-debenture is indivisibly linked 

to one B ordinary share in the share capital of the company.

The debentures bear interest at a rate of not less than 99% of the distributable earnings as defined in the debenture trust deed.

An A-debenture bears interest at a variable rate for the year ending 31 August 2012, escalating by 5% per annum until 31 August 2017 and 

at the lower of 5% or CPI thereafter.

A B-debenture is entitled to the balance of the distributable income as defined in the Debenture Trust Deed, after servicing the interest on 

the A-debentures, divided by the number of B-debentures in issue.

Interest on A-debentures and B-debentures (collectively, “debentures”) are payable on a six monthly basis.

The rights of the A-debenture holders and the B-debenture holders to repayment are subordinated in favour of the claims of other creditors.

The debentures are redeemable:

• At the option of the debenture holders by a debenture special resolution on or within 90 days after 

 (1) 31 August 2041 (the “election” date); or

 (2) the 10th anniversary of the election date; or

 (3) every 10th anniversary of the election date thereafter

 subject to compliance with statutes and the requirements of the JSE, as applicable;

• At the option of the company subject to compliance with statutes and the requirements of the JSE, as applicable; and

• Immediately at the option of the trustee if the company fails to adhere to the terms of the trust deed including monies owed in terms of 

the deed, commits an act of insolvency or disposes of, or attempts to dispose of the whole or substantially the whole of its undertaking.

Full details and the terms and conditions of the debentures are set out in the Trust Deed which is available for inspection.
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11 Interest-bearing liabilities

The group has entered into the following loan agreements, which 

together with the linked unitholder capital are used to fund investment 

activities.

The directors are not restricted by the Memorandum of Incorporation 

of the company as to the percentage of debt to net asset value that 

may be incurred.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are measured at amortised cost. 

The group’s exposure to interest rate and liquidity risk are disclosed in 

note 26.

2011

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited (“Standard Bank”)

The company has secured a facility totalling R843 400 000 from 

Standard Bank 759 500  – 759 500  –

The facility is secured by mortgage bonds of R1,4 billion over 

investment property with a carrying value of R2,1 billion.

Amount Type of rate

Current 

rate Maturity

R53,9 million Floating, based on 

3-month jibar 

plus 2,38%

7,96% 17 August 2016  53 905  –  53 905

 –

R99,4 million Floating, based on 

prime less 0,95%

8,05% 17 August 2016  99 428  –  99 428

 –

R506,7 million Fixed 8,63% 17 August 2015  506 667  –  506 667  –

R100 million Fixed 9,26% 17 August 2016  100 000  –  100 000  –

(R0,5) million Raising fees (500) (500)

R759,5 million

Should the loan to value of the above loan increase from 40% 

to 45%, the liquidity margin would increase by 10bps.

2010

In the prior year the company had secured a facility totalling 

R397 628 867 from Standard Bank.  –  393 629  –  –

The facility was secured by first mortgage bonds over the Dipula 

portfolio as disclosed in note 2.

Amount Type of rate

Current 

rate Maturity

R127,4 million Fixed 10,27%  5 June 2011  –  127 350  –  –

R200,8 million

Stepped fixed rates 

From 9% to 13,93%  9,00%  1 April 2015  –  200 800  –  –

R34,1 million Fixed 13,42%  6 May 2013  –  34 050  –  –

R17,4 million

Floating based on 

prime less 1%  8,63%  2 April 2013  –  17 429  –  –

R14 million Fixed 10,27% 29 July 2011  –  14 000  –  –

R397,6 million

Non-current liabilities  759 500  393 629  759 500  –
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12 Loans from related parties

12.1 Loans payable

12.1.1 Dijalo Property Services (Pty) Ltd  – 186 409

2011: Nil (2010: R127 029 926)

The prior year amount bore interest at a fixed rate of 11,5% per annum and was repayable on 

21 January 2011.

The loan was secured by a second mortgage bond over The Dipula Property Investment Trust 

property portfolio.

Interest was payable monthly in arrears.

2011: Nil (2010: R21 914 892)

The prior year loan was unsecured, bore interest at a fixed rate of 10,29% per annum and was 

repayable on 31 August 2011.

Interest was payable monthly in arrears.

2011: Nil (2010: R35 934 108)

The prior year loan was unsecured, bore interest at a fixed rate of 14,43% per annum and was 

repayable on 31 August 2011.

Interest was payable monthly in arrears.

2011: Nil (2010: R1 529 958)

The prior year loan was unsecured, bore interest at the prime overdraft rate less 1% and had no 

fixed term of repayment.

Interest was payable monthly in arrears.

This loan was settled by the net issue of 16 889 886 A-linked units and 16 889 886 B-linked 

units to Dijalo Property Services.

12.1.2 Redefine Properties Opco (Pty) Ltd 2011: Nil (2010: R103 706 987)  – 103 707

The prior year loan was unsecured and bore interest at the prime overdraft rate less 2,2% and 

had no fixed terms of repayment.

Interest was payable monthly in arrears.

 – 290 116
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13 Deferred taxation

Arising on revaluation of property 26 471  16 867  –  –

Arising on straight-lining adjustment 9 492  4 176  –  –

Arising on provision for doubtful debts  (2 038)  (154)  –  –

Arising on recognition of tax loss  (16 838)  (3 019)  –  –

 17 087  17 870  –  –

Movement for the year

Balance at beginning of year  17 870  12 853  –  –

Subsidiaries acquired  10 098  –  –  –

Deferred taxation on property held for resale (1 110)  –  –  –

Arising on revaluation of property (1 843)  4 603  –  –

Arising on straight-lining adjustment  987  677  –  –

Arising on provision for doubtful debts (740)  37  –  –

Arising on recognition of tax loss (8 175) (300)  –  –

Balance at end of year  17 087  17 870  –  –

Deferred tax is provided at 14% (2010: 14%) on investment 

property, at 28% (2010: 28%) on straight-line lease adjustments, 

assessed losses and provision for doubtful debts.

Refer to note 22 for change in accounting policy. 

Unrecognised deferred tax asset or computed tax losses 9 692 – – –
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14 Trade and other payables

Trade payables 9 247  109  –  –

Accrued expenses 13 570  4 260 2 746  –

Tenant deposits  10 649  5 540  –  –

Tenant receipts paid in advance  1 391  –  –  –

Payable to vendors  28 158  – 28 156 –

VAT payable  –  1 713  –  –

Other payables 3 071  404  –  –

 66 086  12 026 30 902 –

15 Net operating profit/(loss)

Net operating profit/(loss) includes the following income:

Contingent turnover rental 416 337 – –

Net operating profit/(loss) includes the following charges:

Amortisation  1 419  357  – –

Auditor's remuneration  551  221  –  –

– Audit fee  551  206  –  –

– Other services  –  15  –  –

Asset management fees  4 689  3 878  –  –

Property management fees  3 058  3 214  –  –

Repairs and maintenance 2 652 1 420 – –

Trustees remuneration 126  117  –  –

16 Interest paid

Interest paid on interest-bearing liabilities  53 208  50 333  2 769  –

Debt breakage costs  71 107  –  –  –

Interest paid to related parties  16 580  22 556  –  –

 140 895  72 889  2 769  –

17 Interest received

Interest received from financial institutions  322  587  –  –

Interest received from related parties  –  –  7 868  –

 322  587  7 868  –
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18 Taxation

Deferred  9 771  (5 013)  –  –

– Current year  9 771 (5 013)  –  –

Reconciliation between applicable taxation rate and effective 

taxation rate

SA normal taxation rate applied to income before taxation  17 985  (9 579)  –  –

Taxation effect of:

– Effect of capital gains taxation payable 768  4 603  –  –

– Tax loss not recognised  (9 692)  –  –  –

– Other 710  (37)  –  –

Effective taxation  9 771  (5 013)  –  –

19 Earnings/(loss), headline earnings/(loss) and distributable earnings

(Loss)/earnings per linked unit are calculated on the weighted average 

number of units of 4 336 948 (2010: nil) and net (loss)/earnings before 

taxation and interest distributions to linked unitholders of 

(R54,5 million) (2010: R29,2 million).

Reconciliation between (loss)/earnings, headline (loss)/earnings and 

distributable earnings.

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to equity holders  (54 462)  29 196

Debenture interest  5 096  –

(Loss)/earnings attributable to linked unitholders (49 366)  29 196

Changes in fair value of properties (net of deferred taxation) (3 006) (28 275)

Changes in fair value of properties (3 350) (32 878)

Deferred taxation on properties  344  4 603

Headline (loss)/earnings attributable to linked unitholders (52 372)  921

Straight-line rental income accrual (net of deferred taxation) (2 537)

Straight-line rental income accrual (3 524)

Deferred taxation  987

Deferred taxation asset raised on tax losses and doubtful 

debt provisions (11 102)

Debt breakage costs  71 107

Distributable earnings attributable to linked unitholders  5 096
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20 Cash generated from operations

(Loss)/profit before taxation (64 233)  34 209  –  –

Adjusted for:

Interest paid  140 895  72 889  2 769  –

Interest received (322) (587) (7 868)  –

Debenture interest paid  5 096  –  5 096  –

Fair value gain on investment property (3 350) (32 878)  –  –

Straight-lining income accrual (3 524) (2 420)  –  –

Amortisation of tenant installations  466  –  –  –

Amortisation of leasing commissions  953  –  –  –

Operating income/(loss) before working capital changes  75 981  71 213 (3)  –

Working capital changes  2 273 (1 266) 2 727  –

Decrease in trade and other receivables (8 623) (266)  (18)  –

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  10 896 (1 000) 2 745  –

 78 254  69 947 2 724  –

21 Business combinations

Acquisition of Mergence Africa Property Fund (Pty) Ltd and 

Asakhe Realty Investment Fund (Pty) Ltd

Dipula acquired Mergence Africa Property Fund (Pty) Ltd which owns 

51 properties with effect from 1 August 2011.

Dipula acquired Asakhe Realty Investment Fund (Pty) Ltd which owns 

19 properties with effect from 17 August 2011.

Details of the net assets acquired are as follows:

Investment property (including straight-line income accrual)  899 900  –

Assets held for sale  21 400  –

Trade and other receivables  5 096  –

Net cash and cash equivalents  9 381  –

Trade and other payables  (15 007)  –

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities  (340 333)  –

Related party loans  (414 070)  –

Deferred taxation  (10 098)  –

Total net assets acquired  156 269  –

Goodwill  48 482 –

Purchase consideration payable  204 751  – 204 751

Settled as follows:

 Cash  134 737  – 134 737 –

 Vendor loan raised  28 158  – 28 158 –

 Shares and debentures  41 856  – 41 856 –

 204 751  – 204 751 –

Net cash outflow on acquisition

Cash consideration paid 134 737 – 134 737 –

Cash acquired (9 381) – – –

Net cash outflow on acquisition  125 356 – 134 737 –

The acquired businesses contributed revenues of R9,55 million and net profit of R15,62 million, including the effect of fair value adjustments 

but excluding the effect of debt breakage costs paid by the group for the period under review. These amounts have been calculated using 

the group's accounting policies together with consequential tax effects.

If the acquisitions had occurred on 1 September 2010, the contribution to group revenue and net profit after tax would have been 

R101,47 million and R29,2 million respectively. The net profit after tax has been calculated including the effect of fair value adjustments but 

excluding the effect of debt breakage costs paid and income relating to a loan forgiven.
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22 Change in accounting policy

In December 2010 the IASB released amendments to IAS 12, effective 1 January 

2012. These amendments impact on the rate at which deferred tax is recognised 

specifically on the fair value movement of the building component of investment 

property as it establishes a presumption that it will be recovered through disposal and 

hence will attract deferred tax at the capital gains tax rate. Dipula has elected the early 

adoption of these amendments and applied them retrospectively as required by IAS 8. 

It is the view of the board that the adoption of this policy results in more accurate and 

meaningful information.

The early adoption had the following effect on the August 2010 and August 2009 

results:

Deferred tax liability – decrease  (31 754)  (23 023)  (18 167)

Reserves – increase  31 754  23 023  18 167

Deferred tax expense – decrease  (8 731)  (4 856)  (18 167)

Profit for the year – increase  8 731  4 856  18 167

Further details relating to the impact of the early adoption of the IAS 12 amendments on 

reserves can be seen in the statement of changes in equity.

23 Commitments

23.1 Capital commitments

The company currently has no capital commitments

GROUP COMPANY

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

24 Minimum lease payments receivable

Minimum lease payments comprise contractual rental income, 

excluding the straight-line lease adjustment, and operating expense 

recoveries due in terms of signed lease agreements on investment 

properties:

– Receivable within one year 197 193 72 811  – –

– Receivable within two to five years 382 663 135 007  – –

– Receivable beyond five years 153 335 28 750  – –

733 191 236 568  – –

25 Contingent liabilities and guarantees

Guarantees totalling R1 256 417 (2010: R442 087) have been issued 

on the group's behalf by The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited 

to various municipal councils in lieu of deposits for services.

There are no other material guarantees or contingent liabilities.
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26 Financial risk management

The group's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, long-term liabilities, amounts 

due from subsidiaries and third parties, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, 

debentures and linked unitholders for distribution. In respect of the aforementioned financial 

instruments, book value approximates fair value. Exposure to market, credit and liquidity risk arises in 

the normal course of business.

The group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit risk

• Liquidity risk

• Market risk

The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the group’s risk 

management framework. The board has delegated the responsibility for developing and monitoring the 

group’s risk management policies to the Audit and Risk Committee. The committee reports to the 

board of directors on its activities. The group Audit and Risk Committee oversees how management 

monitors compliance with the group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the 

adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the group.

The group's risk management policies are established to ensure:

• improved risk management and control;

• the efficient allocation of funds to maximise returns;

• the maintenance of acceptable levels of risk within the group as a whole; and

• efficient liquidity management and control of funding costs.

26.1 Credit risk management

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a tenant or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 

to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the group’s receivables from tenants and 

cash and cash equivalents.

Trade and other receivables

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each tenant. 

The group’s wide-spread customer base reduces credit risk.

The majority of rental revenue is derived from properties situated in Gauteng, and thus most of the 

credit risk is concentrated within this province. Management has established a credit policy under 

which each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the group’s standard 

payment terms and conditions are offered. When available, the group’s review includes external ratings.

Trade and other receivables relate mainly to the group’s tenants and deposits with municipalities. In 

monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit characteristics, 

including whether they are an individual or legal entity, industry, size of business and existence of 

previous financial difficulties.

All specific doubtful debts have been impaired and at year-end, management did not consider there to 

be any material credit risk exposure that was not already covered by an impairment adjustment.

The impairment adjustment at 31 August 2011 was R9,7 million (2010: R0,734 million) net of tenant 

deposits or guarantees held as security. The company held tenant cash deposits and guarantees with 

a fair value of R10,7 million at 31 August 2011 (2010: R0,89 million).

The specifically impaired receivables relate to tenants who have either been summonsed for non-

payment, vacated the premises or who have a history of payment default.

It is expected that a portion of the specifically impaired receivables will be recovered.

Ageing of impaired trade receivables

Not more than 30 days 256 –

More than 30 days but not more than 60 days 997 29

More than 60 days but not more than 90 days 1 561 116

More than 90 days but not more than 120 days 1 029 47

More than 120 days 5 864 542

Total 9 707 734
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26 Financial risk management (continued)

26.1 Credit risk management (continued)

Movements on the allowance for the impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

Opening balance  734  649

Subsidiaries acquired 5 448 –

Impairment losses recognised on receivables 3 525  405

Impairment losses reversed on receivables – (320)

Closing balance 9 707  734

The allowance for impaired receivables and receivables written off are included 

in property expenses.

Amounts charged to the allowance will be written off when all avenues for recovery have been exhausted 

and there is no expectation that any further cash will be received.

At reporting date no geographic area, rental sector or size of tenant had been identified as a specific 

credit risk.

Receivables past due but not impaired

Receivables are considered to be "past due" when they are uncollected one day or more beyond their 

contractual due date.

As at 31 August 2011, trade receivables of R7,8 million (2010: R1,3 million) were considered past due 

but not impaired. These include varied customers with no recent history of payment default.

The ageing of these trade receivables is as follows:

Ageing of trade receivables past due but not impaired

Not more than 30 days 5 430 660

More than 30 days but not more than 60 days 1 313 512

More than 60 days but not more than 90 days 365  116

More than 90 days 654  47

Total 7 762 1 335

 Cash and cash equivalents

  The group’s exposure to credit risk is limited through the use of financial institutions of good standing for investment and cash-handling 

purposes.

 Sureties

  The group’s policy is to provide sureties with regards to subsidiaries to the extent required in the normal course of business. Such sureties 

are provided to enable the subsidiaries to obtain the funding necessary to enable them to acquire investment property or investments.
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26.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obligations relating to linked unit interest, interest-bearing liabilities 

and trade and other payables, as they fall due. The group ensures that it always has adequate funds available and seeks to borrow for as 

long as possible at the lowest possible cost. Liquidity requirements are managed by monitoring forecasted cash flows and the maturity profile 

of financial liabilities.

The group receives rental on a monthly basis and uses it to reduce its borrowings. Typically the group ensures that it has sufficient cash on 

demand to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations. This excludes the potential impact of extreme 

circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

A maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities is set out in the table below. This analysis excludes interest payments on debentures as 

the amounts involved are dependent on future distributable earnings.

Less than 1 year  1 – 5 years More than 5 years  Total

GROUP  R’000  R’000 R’000  R’000

Year ended 31 August 2011

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 11 811  –  – 11 811

Cash and cash equivalents  25 260  –  –  25 260

Total financial assets 37 071  –  – 37 071

Financial liabilities

Debenture capital – – 930 796 930 796

Interest-bearing liabilities 65 253 759 500 – 824 753

Trade and other payables 64 695 – – 64 695

Linked unitholders for distribution  5 096 – –  5 096

Total financial liabilities 135 044 759 500 930 796 1 825 340

Year ended 31 August 2010

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 2 663 – – 2 663

Cash and cash equivalents  1 441 – –  1 441

Total financial assets 4 104  – – 4 104

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 49 868  393 629 – 443 497

Loans from related parties 13 495  290 116 – 303 611

Trade and other payables 10 383 – – 10 383

Total financial liabilities 73 746  683 745 – 757 491
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26.2 Liquidity risk (continued)

Less than 1 year  1 – 5 years More than 5 years  Total

COMPANY  R’000  R’000 R’000  R’000

Year ended 31 August 2011

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables  18  – –  18

Cash and cash equivalents  10 728  – –  10 728

Total financial assets  10 746  – –  10 746

Financial liabilities

Debenture capital – – 931 012  931 012

Interest-bearing liabilities 65 253 759 500 – 824 753

Trade and other payables  30 902 – –  30 902

Linked unitholders for distribution  5 096 – –  5 096

Total financial liabilities 101 251 759 500 931 012  1 791 763

Year ended 31 August 2010

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables  –  –  –  –

Cash and cash equivalents  –  –  –  –

Total financial assets  –  –  –  –

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities  –  –  –  –

Loans from related parties  –  –  –  –

Trade and other payables  –  –  –  –

Total financial liabilities  –  –  –  –
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26.3 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in interest rate will affect the group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 

objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters, while optimising 

the return.

26.4

The group is exposed to interest rate risk through its variable rate cash balances and long-term liability balances (refer to managing 

debt section).

The group has reduced its exposure to changes in interest rates by fixing interest rates in respect of 80% of its borrowings. This is achieved 

by entering into fixed rate loans.

An increase (or decrease) of 1% in interest rates for the year ending 31 August 2011 would have decreased (increased) distributions to 

unitholders by approximately R1,2 million (2010: R1,2 million).

Currency risk

The group has no exposure to currency risk.

Equity price risk

The group is not exposed to equity price risk.

Fair values

A number of the group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets 

and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the methods below. When applicable, 

further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

IFRS 7 requires that an entity disclose for each class of financial instruments measured at fair value, the level in the fair value hierarchy into 

which the fair value measurements are categorised in their entirety.

However since no financial instruments are carried at fair value, there is no need for this disclosure.

Analysis of financial instruments by category

Financial assets Financial liabilities

Designated 

at

 fair value

Loans 

and 

receivables

 At 

amortised 

cost

At fair value 

through 

profit

 or loss Total

GROUP R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Year ended 31 August 2011

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables  – 11 811  –  –  21 078

Cash and cash equivalents  –  25 260  –  –  25 260

Total financial assets  – 37 071  –  –  46 338

Financial liabilities

Debenture capital  –  – 900 629  –  900 629

Interest-bearing liabilities  –  –  759 500  –  759 500

Trade and other payables  –  – 64 695  –  66 086

Linked unitholders for distribution  –  – 5 096  – 5 096

Total financial liabilities  –  – 1 729 920  – 1 731 311

Year ended 31 August 2010

Financial assets – – –

Trade and other receivables – 2 663 – –  3 359

Cash and cash equivalents –  1 441 – –  1 441

Total financial assets –  4 104 – –  4 800

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities – –  393 629 –  393 629

Loans from related parties – –  290 116 –  290 116

Trade and other payables – – 10 383 – 12 026

Total financial liabilities – – 694 128 – 695 771
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26.4 Financial instruments by category (continued)

Financial assets Financial liabilities

Designated 

at

 fair value

Loans 

and 

receivables

 At 

amortised 

cost

At fair value 

through 

profit

 or loss Total

COMPANY R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Year ended 31 August 2011

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables  –  18  –  –  18

Cash and cash equivalents  –  10 728  –  –  10 728

Total financial assets  –  10 746  –  –  10 746

Financial liabilities

Debenture capital  –  –  931 012  –  931 012

Interest-bearing liabilities  –  –  759 500  –  759 500

Trade and other payables  –  –  30 902  –  30 902

Linked unitholders for distribution  –  –  5 096  –  5 096

Total financial liabilities  –  –  1 726 510  –  1 726 510

Year ended 31 August 2010

Financial assets  –  –  –  –  –

Trade and other receivables  –  –  –  –  –

Cash and cash equivalents  –  –  –  –  –

Total financial assets  –  –  –  –  –

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities  –  –  –  –  –

Loans from related parties  –  –  –  –  –

Trade and other payables  –  –  –  –  –

Total financial liabilities  –  –  –  –  –
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27 Capital management

The group considers both the equity attributable to equity holders and linked debentures as the 

permanent capital of the group.

The board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 

confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The board of directors also monitors the 

level of distributions to unitholders. The board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns 

that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a 

sound capital position. There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during 

the year.

In terms of Dipula's Memorandum of Incorporation and the trust deed, there are no restrictions on 

borrowings. However, to protect Dipula’s exposure, the board has imposed a limit on borrowings to 

45% of total assets. In practice, Dipula aims to limit borrowings to 45% of total assets.

Value of the property portfolio  2 107 099  809 262

45% thereof 948 195 364 168

Borrowings utilised (759 500) (393 629)

“Unutilised”/(“overutilised”) borrowing capacity 188 695 (29 461)

28 Accounting estimates and judgements

Management discusses with the Audit and Risk Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the group’s critical accounting 

policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates.

Investment property

The revaluation of investment property requires judgement in the determination of future cash flows from leases and an appropriate 

capitalisation rate which vary between 9,0% and 13,0% (2010: 9,0% and 13,0%). Changes in the capitalisation rate attributable to changes 

in market conditions can have a significant impact on property valuations.

Impairment of assets

The group tests whether assets have suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 1. The recoverable 

amounts of cash generating units and intangible assets have been determined based on future cash flows discounted to their present value 

using appropriate rates. Estimates are based on interpretation of generally accepted industry based market forecasts. (Refer to note 4.)

Trade receivables

Management identifies impairment of trade receivables on an ongoing basis. Impairment adjustments are raised against trade receivables 

when the collectability is considered to be doubtful. Management believes that the impairment write-off is conservative and there are no 

significant trade receivables that are doubtful and have not been written off. In determining whether a particular receivable could be doubtful, 

the following factors are taken into consideration:

• Age.

• Customer’s current fi nancial status.

• Security held.
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2011

R’000

2010

R’000

2011

R’000

2010

R’000

29 Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to 

control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other 

party in making financial or operational decisions.

Related parties with whom Dipula transacted 

during the year were:

Dipula Asset Management Trust

– Asset management fee 283  –  – –

Relationship: Asset Manager, board representation

Dipula Property Investment Trust

– Interest received –  –  3 084 –

– Loan receivable from related party –  –  734 683 –

Relationship: Subsidiary

Mergence Africa Property Investment Trust

– Interest received –  –  3 297 –

– Loan receivable from related party –  –  801 242 –

Relationship: Subsidiary

Asakhe Realty Investment Fund (Pty) Ltd

– Interest received –  –  1 487 –

– Loan receivable from related party –  –  1 487 –

Relationship: Subsidiary

Emerald Fire Investments (Pty) Ltd

– Loan receivable from related party –  –  180 293 –

Relationship: Subsidiary

Mergence Africa Property Fund (Pty) Ltd

– Loan receivable from related party –  –  239 039 –

Relationship: Subsidiary

Dijalo Property Services (Pty) Ltd

– Interest paid 2 328   17 074  – –

– Asset management fee  2 207  1 939  – –

– Liability owing to related party  –  186 409  – –

Relationship: Shareholder

Redefine Properties Opco (Pty) Ltd

– Interest paid 11 166  5 482  – –

– Asset management fee  2 207  1 939  – –

– Liability owing to related party  –  103 707  – –

Relationship: Shareholder

Various related party transactions relating to the restructuring/listing of the group took place between the following entities:

Dipula Income Fund Limited, Redefine Properties Limited and Mergence Africa Property Fund (Pty) Limited.

These transactions are fully disclosed in the Prospectus issued on 28 July 2011.



Dipula Income Fund        Integrated report 2011 73 

Section

Annual financial statements

30 Segmental information

Retail Industrial Offices Total

2011 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Extracts from statement of comprehensive income

Total revenue from property portfolio  57 481  8 678  40 488  106 647 

Property expenses  (12 643)  (4 455)  (10 296)  (27 394)

Net property income  44 838  4 223  30 192  79 253 

Straight-line rental income accrual  3 524 

Administration and corporate costs  (4 691)

Net operating profit  78 086 

Extracts from statement of financial position

Investment property at year end  1 124 730  332 300  650 069  2 107 099 

  Additions  162 571  -    232 429  395 000 

   Acquired through business combinations 

(including straight-lining adjustment)  550 500  284 900  64 500  899 900 

2010

Extracts from statement of comprehensive income

Total revenue from property portfolio  48 240  5 870  39 828  93 938 

Property expenses  (9 029)  (790)  (9 028)  (18 847)

Net property income  39 211  5 080  30 800  75 091 

Straight-line rental income accrual  2 420 

Administration and corporate costs  (3 878)

Net operating profit  73 633 

Extracts from statement of financial position

Investment property at year end  417 816  47 371  344 075  809 262 

  Additions 659 – – 659
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Dipula Income Fund Limited

Registration Number 2005/013963/06

(Formerly Dipula Property Fund (Pty) Ltd)

(“Dipula” or “the company”)

JSE Share Code: DIA (A-linked units); DIB (B-linked units)

ISIN Code: ZAE 000158317 (A-linked units); ZAE 000158325 (B-linked units)

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders and debenture holders (“unitholders”) of Dipula will be held at The Country 

Club Johannesburg, 1 Napier Road, Auckland Park, Johannesburg on 2 April 2012 at 10:00 for the purposes of:

A.  Considering and adopting the annual financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 August 2011;

B.  Transacting any other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting of shareholders of a company;

1.  Considering and, if deemed fit, adopting, with or without modification, the shareholder special and ordinary resolutions set out below:

 1.1 Special resolution number 1: Financial assistance to related or inter-related company

  To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the following special resolution:

   “Resolved that, to the extent required by the Companies Act, the board of directors of the company may, subject to compliance with the 

requirements of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, each as presently 

constituted and as amended from time to time, authorise the company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance in terms of section 

45 of the Companies Act by way of loans, guarantees, the provisions of security or otherwise, to any of its present or future subsidiaries 

and/or any other company or corporation that is or becomes related or inter-related (as defined in the Companies Act) to the company for 

any purpose or in connection with any matter, such authority to endure until the next annual general meeting of the company.”

 

  Reason for and effect of special resolution number 1

   The company would like the ability to provide financial assistance, if necessary, in accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act. This 

authority is necessary for the company to provide financial assistance in appropriate circumstances. Under the Companies Act, the 

company will, however, require the special resolution referred to above to be adopted, provided that the board of directors of the company 

is satisfied that the terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to the company and, 

immediately after providing the financial assistance, the company would satisfy the solvency and liquidity test contemplated in the 

Companies Act. In the circumstances and in order to ensure, inter alia, that the company’s subsidiaries and other related and inter-related 

companies and corporations have access to financing and/or financial backing from the company (as opposed to banks), it is necessary 

to obtain the approval of shareholders, as set out in special resolution number 1. Therefore, the reason for, and effect of, special resolution 

number 1 is to permit the company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance (within the meaning attributed to that term in section 

45 of the Companies Act) to the entities referred to in special resolution number 1 above.

  This resolution will require the support of 75% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for it to be adopted.

1.2  Ordinary resolution number 1: Re-election of director

  “Resolved that ZJ Matlala who retires as a newly appointed director in terms of the company’s MOI and who, being eligible, offers herself for 

re-election, be re-elected as a director of the company.”

 An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual report of which this notice forms part.

 This resolution will require the support of 50% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for it to be adopted.

1.3  Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-election of director

  “Resolved that IS Petersen who retires as a newly appointed director in terms of the company’s MOI and who, being eligible, offers himself 

for re-election, be re-elected as a director of the company.”

 An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual report of which this notice forms part.

 This resolution will require the support of 50% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for it to be adopted.

1.4  Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-election of director

  “Resolved that BH Azizollahoff who retires as a newly appointed director in terms of the company’s MOI and who, being eligible, offers himself 

for re-election, be re-elected as a director of the company.” 

 An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual report of which this notice forms part.

 This resolution will require the support of 50% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for it to be adopted.

Notice of annual general meeting of shareholders and debenture 
holders/unitholders
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1.5  Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-election of director

  “Resolved that B de Bruyn who retires as a newly appointed director in terms of the company’s MOI and who, being eligible, offers herself for 

re-election, be re-elected as a director of the company.”

 An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual report of which this notice forms part.

 This resolution will require the support of 50% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for it to be adopted.

1.6  Ordinary resolution number 5: Re-election of director

  “Resolved that E Links who retires as a newly appointed director in terms of the company’s MOI and who, being eligible, offers himself for 

re-election, be re-elected as a director of the company.”

 An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual report of which this notice forms part.

 This resolution will require the support of 50% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for it to be adopted.

1.7  Ordinary resolution number 6: Re-election of director

  “Resolved that Y Waja who retires as a newly appointed director in terms of the company’s MOI and who, being eligible, offers himself for 

re-election, be re-elected as a director of the company.”

 An abridged curriculum vitae is included in the annual report of which this notice forms part.

 This resolution will require the support of 50% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for it to be adopted.

1.8 Ordinary resolution number 7: Re-appointment of members of the Audit Committee

 “Resolved that Y Waja (Chairperson), E Links and BH Azizollahoff be re-appointed as members of the Audit Committee.”

 This resolution will require the support of 50% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for it to be adopted.

1.9 Ordinary resolution number 8: Re-appointment of auditors

  “Resolved that PKF (Jhb) Inc. be re-appointed as the auditors of the company.”

 This resolution will require the support of 50% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for it to be adopted.

1.10  Ordinary resolution number 9: Unissued linked units

  “Resolved that all authorised but unissued linked units of the company be placed under the control of the directors of the company until the 

next annual general meeting, with the authority to allot and issue all or part thereof at their discretion, subject to the provisions of 

the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited.”

 This resolution will require the support of 50% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for it to be adopted.

1.11  Ordinary resolution number 10: Issue of linked units for cash

  “Resolved that, pursuant to the MOI of the company, the directors of the company be and are hereby authorised until this authority lapses at 

the next annual general meeting of the company, provided that this authority shall not extend beyond 15 months, to allot and issue linked units 

for cash subject to the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, on the following basis:

 a)   the allotment and issue of linked units for cash shall be made only to persons qualifying as public shareholders and not to related parties, 

as defined in the Listings Requirements of the JSE;

 b)   the number of linked units issued for cash shall not in the aggregate in the financial year of the company (which commenced 1 September 

2011) exceed 5% of the company’s issued linked units. The number of linked units which may be issued for cash shall be based on the 

number of linked units in issue at the date of the application, less any linked units issued by the company during the current financial year, 

provided that any linked units to be issued for cash pursuant to a rights issue (announced and irrevocable and underwritten) or acquisition 

(concluded up to the date of application) may be included as though they were linked units in issue at the date of application;

 c)   the maximum discount at which linked units may be issued for cash is 10% of the weighted average price on the JSE of those linked units 

over 30 days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the company and the party subscribing for the linked units;

 d)   after the company has issued linked units for cash which represent, on a cumulative basis within a financial year 5% or more of the number 

of linked units in issue prior to that issue, the company shall publish an announcement containing full details of the issue, including the 

effect of the issue on the net asset value, net tangible asset value, earnings, headline earnings and, if applicable, diluted earnings and 

diluted headline earnings per linked unit of the company; and

 e)   the linked units which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue or where this is not the case, must be limited 

to such linked units or rights as are convertible into a class already in issue.”
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  In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE this resolution will require the support of 75% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for 

it to be adopted.

1.12  Ordinary resolution number 11: Signature of documentation

  “Resolved that a director of the company or the company secretary be and is hereby authorised to sign all such documentation and do all 

such things as may be necessary for or incidental to the implementation of ordinary resolution numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10 and 

special resolution number 1 which are passed by the linked unitholders with and subject to the terms thereof.”

 This resolution will require the support of 50% of the voting rights exercised on it in order for it to be adopted.

Voting and proxies

Each linked unit comprises one ordinary share and one debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised unitholders are therefore advised that 

they must complete a form of proxy for shareholders in order for their vote/s to be valid. The form of proxy for certificated and own-name 

dematerialised shareholders/unitholders is set out on page 77 of the annual report.

A unitholder of the company entitled to attend, speak and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, 

speak and to vote in his stead. The proxy need not be a unitholder of the company.

On a show of hands, every unitholder of the company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On a poll, every unitholder 

of the company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote for every linked unit in the company by such unitholder.

A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of certificated and own-name dematerialised unitholders holding linked units in the company who 

cannot attend the annual general meeting but wish to be represented thereat.

Such unitholders must complete and return the attached form of proxy and lodge it with the transfer secretaries of the company.

Dematerialised unitholders who have not elected own-name registration in the sub-register of the company through a Central Securities Depository 

Participant (“CSDP”) and who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must instruct the CSDP or broker to provide them with the necessary 

authority to attend.

Dematerialised unitholders who have not elected own-name registration in the sub-register of the company through a CSDP and who are unable to 

attend, but wish to vote at the annual general meeting, must timeously provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the 

custody agreement entered into between that unitholder and the CSDP or broker. Such unitholders are advised that they must provide their CSDP 

or broker with separate voting instructions in respect of the shares and the debentures in terms of their linked units.

Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the company’s registered office. The completed forms of proxy must be deposited at, posted 

or faxed to the transfer secretaries Link Market Services South Africa (Proprietary) Limited, to be received at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. Any 

unitholder who completes and lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person at the annual general meeting should 

the unitholder subsequently decide to do so. 

Important dates

• Record date for purposes of receiving this notice: Friday, 24 February 2012 

• Record date for purposes of voting at the meeting: Friday, 23 March 2012

By order of the board

Probity Business Services (Proprietary) Limited

Company Secretary

Registered office

2 Arnold Road, Rosebank 2196

Transfer Secretaries

Link Market Services South Africa

13th Floor, Rennie House, 19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, Johannesburg 2001

PO Box 4844, Johannesburg 2000
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Form of proxy of shareholders/unitholders

Dipula Income Fund Limited

Registration Number 2005/013963/06

(Formerly Dipula Property Fund (Pty) Ltd)

(“Dipula” or “the company”)

JSE Share Code: DIA (A-linked units); DIB (B-linked units)

ISIN Code: ZAE 000158317 (A-linked units); ZAE 000158325 (B-linked units)

Each of the linked units comprises one ordinary share and one debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders/unitholders are 

therefore advised that they must complete a form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders/unitholders in order for their 

vote/s to be valid. 

This form of proxy is for use by the holders of the company’s certificated linked units (“certificated unitholders”) and/or dematerialised linked units 

held through a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker who have selected own-name registration and who cannot attend but 

wish to be represented at the annual general meeting of the company at The Country Club Johannesburg, 1 Napier Road, Auckland Park, 

Johannesburg on 2 April 2012 at 10:00 or any adjournment, if required. Additional forms of proxy are available at the company’s registered office.

Not for the use by holders of the company’s dematerialised linked units who have not selected own-name registration. Such unitholders must contact 

their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the annual general meeting and request that they be issued with the necessary 

authorisation to do so, or provide the CSDP or broker timeously with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the annual general 

meeting but wish to be represented thereat, in order for the CSDP or broker to vote in accordance with their instructions.

I/We (Name in block letters)

of (Address) 

being the registered holder/s of  A-linked units and/or B-linked units in Dipula, hereby appoint 

 of  or failing him/her, 

the chairperson of the general meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the company to and at 

any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done, the proxy will vote as he/she thinks fit.

In favour of Against Abstain

1.1  Special resolution number 1: General authority for the company to grant financial 

assistance to related or inter-related companies

1.2 Ordinary resolution number 1: To re-elect ZJ Matlala as a director of the company

1.3 Ordinary resolution number 2: To re-elect IS Petersen as a director of the company

1.4 Ordinary resolution number 3: To re-elect BH Azizollahoff as a director of the company

1.5 Ordinary resolution number 4: To re-elect B de Bruyn as a director of the company

1.6 Ordinary resolution number 5: To re-elect E Links as a director of the company

1.7 Ordinary resolution number 6: To re-elect Y Waja as a director of the company

1.8  Ordinary resolution number 7: To re-appoint members of the Audit Committee

1.9 Ordinary resolution number 8: To re-appoint PKF (Jhb) Inc as auditors of the company  

1.10  Ordinary resolution number 9: Authority to place the unissued linked units under the 

control of the directors

1.11  Ordinary resolution number 10: General authority to enable the company to issue for 

cash up to 5% of the authorised but unissued linked units

1.12. Ordinary resolution number 11: To authorise the signature of documentation

Signed this  day of  2012

Signature

Assisted by (if applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse.
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1.  Each of the linked units comprises one ordinary share and one debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders/unitholders 

are therefore advised that they must complete a form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders/unitholders in order 

for their vote/s to be valid.

2.  This form of proxy is to be completed only by those members who are holding linked units in certificated form or recorded in the sub-register 

in electronic form in their “own name”.

3.  Each unitholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need to be a unitholder of the company) to attend, speak and vote 

in place of that shareholder at the annual general meeting.

4.  Unitholders who are certificated or own-name dematerialised unitholders may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate proxies 

of the unitholder’s choice in the space/s provided, with or without deleting “the chairperson of the general meeting”, but any such deletion must 

be initialled by the shareholders. The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at the annual general meeting 

will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. If no proxy is named on a lodged form of proxy, the chairperson 

shall be deemed to be appointed as the proxy.

5.  A unitholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by the unitholder in the 

appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy, in the case of any proxy other than the 

chairperson, to vote or abstain from voting as deemed fit and in the case of the chairperson to vote in favour of the resolution.

6.  A unitholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the unitholder, but the total of the votes cast or abstained from 

may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable in respect of the linked units held by the unitholder.

7.  Forms of proxy must be lodged at, posted or faxed to the transfer secretaries, Link Market Services South Africa (Proprietary) Limited, 

13th Floor, Rennie House, 19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000) to be received at least 

48 hours prior to the meeting.

8.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant unitholder from attending the annual general meeting and 

speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such unitholder wish to do so. Where 

there are joint holders of linked units, the vote of the first joint holder who tenders a vote as determined by the order in which the names stand 

in the register of unitholders, will be accepted.

9.  Where there are joint holders of any linked units, only that holder whose name appears first in the register in respect of such linked units needs 

to sign this form of proxy.

10.  The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received otherwise than in 

accordance with these notes, provided that, in respect of acceptances, the chairperson is satisfied as to the manner in which the unitholder 

concerned wishes to vote.

11.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this 

form of proxy unless previously recorded by the company or Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited or waived by the chairperson 

of the annual general meeting.

12. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

13.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent/guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are produced or have 

been registered by the transfer secretaries.

Notes to the form of proxy for shareholders/unitholders
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